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·1· · · · · · ·P R O C E E D I N G S

·2· · · · CHAIRMAN MACIVER:· All right.· Good

·3· ·morning.

·4· · · · We're going to call the June meeting of

·5· ·the Florida Gaming Control Commission to order.

·6· ·If I'm popping, someone let me know.

·7· · · · I see the front row of our commission

·8· ·staff here, and that's more than

·9· ·understandable.· For the rest of you in the

10· ·audience, I'm slightly confused what on this

11· ·agenda garnered your interest, but I'm happy to

12· ·see you this morning.

13· · · · If we can move directly to Item Number 1.

14· · · · Commissioner Drago, I believe you gave the

15· ·Pledge of Allegiance at the last commission

16· ·meeting.· Would you be inclined to lead the

17· ·pledge for us today as well?

18· · · · COMMISSIONER DRAGO:· Absolutely.· I'd be

19· ·glad to.

20· · · · CHAIRMAN MACIVER:· Thank you, sir.

21· · · · COMMISSIONER DRAGO:· Will you please rise?

22· ·Will you all join me in the Pledge of

23· ·Allegiance?

24· · · · · · (PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE)

25· · · · CHAIRMAN MACIVER:· Thank you,
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·1· ·Commissioner.

·2· · · · We're going to move on to Agenda Item

·3· ·Number 2, which is introduction of

·4· ·commissioners.

·5· · · · I'd like to give each commissioner just a

·6· ·brief moment.· I know that we did this as well

·7· ·at the last commission meeting, and got maybe a

·8· ·little more of an in-depth look at everybody.

·9· · · · But just so we can hit the ground running

10· ·with both commissioners and staff, if everybody

11· ·wants to take just a minute or two and tell us

12· ·about, I guess, what brings you to the

13· ·commission and, I guess, an introduction of

14· ·yourself.

15· · · · Vice-Chairman Yaworsky, do you want to

16· ·start?

17· · · · VICE-CHAIRMAN YAWORSKY:· As the chair

18· ·said, my name is Mike Yaworsky.· I'm honored to

19· ·be the vice-chair of the Florida Gaming Control

20· ·Commission.· It's a tremendous honor to be

21· ·appointed by Governor DeSantis to this

22· ·important post.

23· · · · Looking at the work that both the

24· ·commissioners and our new staff, which is in

25· ·the front row, have already begun doing, it's
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·1· ·very nice to see this new entity come together

·2· ·and begin to gel and become cohesive.· I'm

·3· ·really proud to be a part of that endeavor.  I

·4· ·think that together we have a great opportunity

·5· ·to go a long way to help Florida, in general,

·6· ·and move the ball forward on creating a great

·7· ·regulatory state for gaming interests

·8· ·throughout the state.· Thank you.

·9· · · · CHAIRMAN MACIVER:· Commissioner D'Aquila?

10· · · · (Brief technical *interruption)

11· · · · COMMISSIONER D'AQUILA:· Let's try that

12· ·again.

13· · · · My name is John D'Aquila.· I'm from

14· ·Jacksonville Beach, Florida.· I'm honored to be

15· ·here.· I'm honored to be appointed by the

16· ·governor.· It's my first foray, serving the

17· ·state of Florida.

18· · · · I come here with 36 years of business

19· ·experience.· I'm a CPA, both in the State of

20· ·Florida and the State of New York, active.

21· · · · I'm a graduate of Binghamton University.

22· ·I've been blessed with serving my career, both

23· ·as an auditor with Ernst and Young, a CFO, a

24· ·CEO, and an entrepreneur founder, and several

25· ·boards over the years, both a nonprofit

7
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·1· ·university and corporate.

·2· · · · I look forward to contributing to this

·3· ·commission.

·4· · · · COMMISSIONER BROWN:· Good morning.· Thank

·5· ·you so much for the opportunity to introduce

·6· ·ourselves here.· I'm grateful, as well, to be

·7· ·able to serve the state of Florida --

·8· ·continue serving the state of Florida in this

·9· ·capacity as commissioner on the new Gaming

10· ·Control Commission.· So much work has been

11· ·done, and it's super exciting to be a part of

12· ·this new entity.

13· · · · I've been in public service for 15 years,

14· ·practicing attorney for 22.· My focus has

15· ·primarily been on energy and real estate.· As

16· ·secretary of DBPR, I got exposed to a lot of

17· ·what PMW does.· I'm so excited to continue that

18· ·path here today.· Thank you.· And I live in

19· ·Tampa, Florida.

20· · · · COMMISSIONER DRAGO:· Good morning.· My

21· ·name is Chuck Drago.

22· · · · I was a career law enforcement officer.

23· ·Spent 35 years in law enforcement in the state

24· ·of Florida.· I started out in the City of

25· ·Fort Lauderdale, and then retired from there

8
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·1· ·and became the chief of police in the City of

·2· ·Oviedo, just outside of Orlando, which is where

·3· ·I live still today.

·4· · · · After that, I went to work in DBPR as

·5· ·well, and served as the secretary of DBPR, and

·6· ·then as deputy chief of staff at the

·7· ·governor's office.

·8· · · · After that, I decided to go into the

·9· ·private sector for a while.· I started my own

10· ·business, a police practices consulting

11· ·business, which I still do today.

12· · · · I'm grateful to have an opportunity to

13· ·come back and serve the state of Florida in

14· ·this capacity.· This is a new and exciting time

15· ·for gaming enforcement in this state.· In terms

16· ·of starting a new agency, getting off on the

17· ·ground floor in a brand new agency is something

18· ·that doesn't happen very often.

19· · · · I'm also excited to have a -- not only a

20· ·regulatory part to this commission now, but

21· ·also a law enforcement component.

22· · · · So I'm looking forward to working with my

23· ·fellow commissioners and with the staff of the

24· ·Gaming Control Commission, and working with

25· ·everyone in the industry and in the community

9
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·1· ·as well.· Thank you.

·2· · · · CHAIRMAN MACIVER:· Good morning.· My name

·3· ·is John MacIver.· I've been appointed to be the

·4· ·chair of the commission.

·5· · · · I started my career in the State of

·6· ·Florida government, back in approximately 2001

·7· ·as an intern for one of the finest men I've

·8· ·ever known, then state senator, and now

·9· ·Congressman Bill Posey.

10· · · · I worked there for approximately

11· ·seven years, while finishing up

12· ·my undergraduate degree from the University of

13· ·Central Florida.· At which point in time, I was

14· ·kicked, screaming out of the nest to go to

15· ·law school.

16· · · · I'm a graduate of the Northwestern

17· ·University School of Law.· I've spent most of

18· ·my legal career working in State of Florida

19· ·administrative spheres.

20· · · · I used to joke that I'm actually a really

21· ·nice guy, but I've seemed grumpy for the last

22· ·decade because I work in admin law.

23· · · · I most recently have served our Chief

24· ·Financial Officer, Jimmy Patronis, as his

25· ·general counsel.· I was in that position for

10



Page 9
·1· ·about two years before landing in this

·2· ·position.

·3· · · · I'm also very, very excited to see how

·4· ·this commission can form.· The idea of forming,

·5· ·from the ground up, a brand new commission,

·6· ·state agency, the team that you get to gather,

·7· ·the procedures you get to put in place, to make

·8· ·sure that we are effecting the will of the

·9· ·people as expressed through their legislature,

10· ·and at the same time minimizing the red tape

11· ·and bureaucracy that can sometimes go along

12· ·with executing those policies.

13· · · · So again, I'm very, very excited to see

14· ·what we can build here together.· I think it's

15· ·going to be a great adventure.

16· · · · I'm now going to move on, with great

17· ·thanks, to our executive director for the

18· ·initial team that he is already putting in

19· ·place.

20· · · · I would like to introduce some of our

21· ·senior staff members, who are recent hires to

22· ·the commission, and let the general public know

23· ·what an outstanding team we're already starting

24· ·to put in place.

25· · · · Lou, would you like to take the lead on

11
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·1· ·that?· Sorry, Director Trombetta.

·2· · · · EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR TROMBETTA:· Thank you,

·3· ·Chairman.

·4· · · · Yes.· As you said, we have essentially

·5· ·four new senior employees to introduce to you

·6· ·and to the public.

·7· · · · The first has been selected to be the

·8· ·director of the Division of Pari-Mutuel

·9· ·Wagering.· So he will be taking on the lead of

10· ·the regulatory agency within the Gaming Control

11· ·Commission, Joe Dillmore, who is seated

12· ·upfront.

13· · · · Next we have hired our CIO, our chief

14· ·information officer, Susie Whitmire.· She's in

15· ·red here in front.

16· · · · Next to her is Lisa Mustain, who's going

17· ·to be the director of administration.

18· · · · Then finally, we have Ross Marshman, who's

19· ·taking the role of the general counsel.

20· · · · So I think with these, you know,

21· ·four people immediately -- they've been here a

22· ·short amount of time, but they've immediately

23· ·made contributions that are going to benefit

24· ·the commission, the state, and it really is a

25· ·very optimistic and exciting time to go

12
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·1· ·forward.· Thank you.

·2· · · · CHAIRMAN MACIVER:· Thank you, Director.

·3· · · · If we could move on to Agenda Item

·4· ·Number 3, approval of the minutes from the

·5· ·March 31st meeting.

·6· · · · Commissioners, I believe you all, in

·7· ·advance of the meeting, received a copy of the

·8· ·commission meeting minutes from March 31st.

·9· · · · Is there a motion to approve those

10· ·minutes?

11· · · · COMMISSIONER BROWN:· So moved.

12· · · · CHAIRMAN MACIVER:· Is there a second?

13· · · · VICE-CHAIRMAN YAWORSKY:· Second.

14· · · · CHAIRMAN MACIVER:· Any objection?· Hearing

15· ·none, show the minutes adopted.

16· · · · Item Number 4, discussion of commission

17· ·procedures and processes.

18· · · · Let me kind of just walk through how this

19· ·has developed.· In an early conversation with

20· ·the director, I had asked him to explore the

21· ·concept of streamlining inefficiencies of --

22· ·delineating what things would actually have to

23· ·rise to the level of approval by a collegial

24· ·agency head and what things could be approved

25· ·or denied in the ordinary course of business

13
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·1· ·with the executive director's office.

·2· · · · The guidelines I asked him to explore that

·3· ·were, if something is a ministerial act, if it

·4· ·is a shall issue or a shall deny, then I don't

·5· ·see why that ministerial act necessarily has to

·6· ·come before this body before we can actually

·7· ·get the ball rolling and have the regulated

·8· ·folks in this state have an answer more

·9· ·quickly.

10· · · · At the same time, if it is a matter of

11· ·agency discretion, then, yes, we have not only

12· ·the responsibility, but we have to remain

13· ·accountable to the people of the state of

14· ·Florida by making those decisions.

15· · · · Of course, we are working within the

16· ·boundaries of the administrative law precedent

17· ·that precedes us.

18· · · · So there are going to be some boundaries

19· ·and some obstacles to reaching that goal of

20· ·being able to clearly delineate what would come

21· ·before the commission and what would be able to

22· ·be handled at a staff level.

23· · · · I had asked the director and the

24· ·general counsel to put together a presentation

25· ·for us on exactly what some of those parameters

14
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·1· ·are, so that we can vote in those specific

·2· ·procedures.

·3· · · · EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR TROMBETTA:· Thank you.

·4· · · · So in front of you, I've included a memo

·5· ·in the meeting materials that contains

·6· ·recommendations for five items.· We essentially

·7· ·went through and, as the chairman said, looked

·8· ·for items.

·9· · · · Right now, we focused simply on the

10· ·regulatory actions that, after July 1st, will

11· ·need approval from an agency.· These are the

12· ·actions of -- final agency action that will

13· ·need to be signed off on by the commission.

14· · · · So we did not look at essentially criminal

15· ·or some of the administrative procedures.· That

16· ·will probably come up in subsequent meetings.

17· · · · But going forward, again, I've grouped

18· ·these into five different items.

19· · · · The first one deals with permitting

20· ·issues.· So these are the items that involve

21· ·anything essentially with the modification of

22· ·permits, adding permits, or revoking permits.

23· ·They will all need final agency action.

24· · · · So the recommendation is that the

25· ·division, through me, will conduct all of the

15
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·1· ·fact-finding; present some sort of report,

·2· ·memo, item, to prepare and have it included on

·3· ·an agenda; and be available to respond to any

·4· ·questions the commissioners may have at the

·5· ·meeting.· Sorry.· One second.

·6· · · · CHAIRMAN MACIVER:· Just for the other

·7· ·commissioners, as a note on procedures for this

·8· ·meeting, please, for this presentation, don't

·9· ·wait for recognition by the chair.· If you have

10· ·a question of the director or any presenter,

11· ·please feel free to ask a question at any time

12· ·without waiting for recognition by the chair.

13· · · · EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR TROMBETTA:· So

14· ·continuing, an item that would require

15· ·signature from the commission would be prepared

16· ·and vetted through the gaming commission

17· ·underneath you, the Division of Para-Mutuel

18· ·Wagering.· It will then be presented to you for

19· ·signature at the commission meeting.

20· · · · The same is the case for operating

21· ·licenses.· So these are any issue involving

22· ·operating license tied to a permit will

23· ·essentially follow the same process.· The

24· ·Division of Pari-Mutuel Wagering will conduct

25· ·fact-finding.· A recommendation will be

16
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·1· ·provided.· Legal will look at it.· Then it will

·2· ·be presented to the commission for signature.

·3· · · · Any questions on either of those two?

·4· · · · CHAIRMAN MACIVER:· Yes.· I just want to

·5· ·ask, and maybe I'm getting a little bit ahead

·6· ·of you here.· But with that procedure in

·7· ·place -- and this is more of a question for the

·8· ·overall subject of delegation, is that -- well,

·9· ·even that procedure is going to cause some

10· ·delay of waiting for a meeting for us to

11· ·actually sign the order.

12· · · · Can you or can the general counsel give us

13· ·just a brief synopsis of what the boundary is

14· ·for us being able to just directly delegate

15· ·that to the executive director, those things

16· ·which are ministerial, rather than

17· ·discretionary, in nature?

18· · · · EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR TROMBETTA:· Sure.· I'm

19· ·going to refer -- I'm going to ask Ross to come

20· ·up and provide an answer on that.

21· · · · MR. MARSHMAN:· Good morning.· Thank you,

22· ·Chair.

23· · · · On the question of delegation from the

24· ·commission to an executive director and his

25· ·staff, as the chair has already pointed out,

17
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·1· ·you are bound by certain precedent and how that

·2· ·can be accomplished.

·3· · · · And as Director Trombetta has already

·4· ·mentioned, if the commission is taking final

·5· ·agency action, then the commission is the one

·6· ·that has to take that step.· But there are

·7· ·other certain functions that have already, by

·8· ·law, been made part of the executive director's

·9· ·ambit and purview.· That is the administrative

10· ·function I think that Director Trombetta had

11· ·mentioned earlier.· That's laid out in Chapter

12· ·16.

13· · · · For certain actions that the commission

14· ·will take, I endorse Director Trombetta's plan

15· ·to do all of the fact-finding that is

16· ·necessary, including making a recommendation

17· ·for the commission, and asking the commission

18· ·what its input is after the director and his

19· ·staff have done all of the necessary work for

20· ·the commission to have its best information and

21· ·best recommendation to take final agency

22· ·action.

23· · · · CHAIRMAN MACIVER:· Commissioner Brown?

24· · · · COMMISSIONER BROWN:· Thank you,

25· ·Mr. Chairman.

18
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·1· · · · Mr. Marshman, do you foresee -- or

·2· ·Mr. Trombetta -- an exorbitant delay as a

·3· ·result of the fact-finding component and then

·4· ·the presentation to the commission for final

·5· ·action, or what's the timeframe typically on

·6· ·some of these processes and procedures?

·7· · · · EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR TROMBETTA:· Thank you,

·8· ·Commissioner.· I'm trying to get it to stop

·9· ·hissing.· I'm sorry.

10· · · · It's something that I think we'll be able

11· ·to deal with operationally.· So a lot of items

12· ·that are on this list have deadlines, whether

13· ·they're in 120 or in some other statute, 550 or

14· ·551.

15· · · · I think, from an operational side, we

16· ·should be able to prepare them ahead of time,

17· ·so that we can arrange them around a

18· ·regularly-scheduled commission meeting.

19· ·However, there may be some exceptions, where

20· ·we might have to call a special meeting.

21· · · · For operational licenses that we were just

22· ·talking about, they all operate on a schedule

23· ·that's laid out in statute.

24· · · · There's a window where the permit holders

25· ·have to apply for an operating license.

19
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·1· ·There's a fixed date that the agency has to

·2· ·issue or make a decision on the license.· So

·3· ·that one, we can arrange a meeting on that

·4· ·date.· We'll get everything to you, so that we

·5· ·can do that easily.

·6· · · · Slot licenses, we may have to schedule

·7· ·meetings around the reissuance or renewal of

·8· ·slot licenses.· So they are on a calendar,

·9· ·based on the initial issuance of the license.

10· ·It's separate from the cardrooms and

11· ·Pari-Mutuel operation licenses.

12· · · · Again, I think it's an operational

13· ·question that we're going to be able to work

14· ·around.

15· · · · The next item was individual occupational

16· ·licenses.· So these are license applications

17· ·from people that either work in the facilities,

18· ·work around, and will have access to the

19· ·facilities, or the businesses that are vendors

20· ·or provide services for the facilities.

21· · · · So they are on a different schedule.

22· ·We have essentially 90 days to issue a license

23· ·from the date that the application is

24· ·completed.

25· · · · So I think, again, for the most part,

20
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·1· ·we'll be able to kind of fill them in.· The

·2· ·plan on these is that you'll be provided

·3· ·licenses for denial.

·4· · · · So there's a subset.· Of all the

·5· ·applications we get, the denials will come to

·6· ·you for final agency action.· I think, again,

·7· ·on the operational side, we'll be able to

·8· ·manage it, so that we can get things to you in

·9· ·a timely manner.

10· · · · I'd also ask for flexibility because,

11· ·you know, this will kind of work itself out in

12· ·the coming months.· I appreciate the

13· ·consideration of these items today, ahead of

14· ·July, because that's really -- on July 1st, the

15· ·agency changes for the Division of PMW.

16· · · · In the past, the DBPR, through PMW, was

17· ·the agency that was taking agency action on

18· ·these items.· On July 1st, it's the commission.

19· ·So I think that transfer will happen smoothly.

20· ·I think, again, from the operational side, I'll

21· ·be able to try to make everything happen.

22· · · · COMMISSIONER BROWN:· I have some

23· ·follow-up, if I may.

24· · · · This makes sense.· The recommendation is

25· ·pretty cohesive and very thorough.· I just want

21
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·1· ·to make sure that there wasn't going to be a

·2· ·hiccup.

·3· · · · Just one additional question.· Is there

·4· ·going to necessarily be rule-making that needs

·5· ·to be conducted to implement some of these

·6· ·procedures and policies?

·7· · · · EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR TROMBETTA:· There may.

·8· ·Right now, it doesn't look like there's going

·9· ·to be any rule-making required to effectuate

10· ·the changes that these items are trying to

11· ·incorporate and trying to get ahead of.

12· · · · If that is needed -- you know, the

13· ·rule-making procedures in 120, I think 54, will

14· ·apply to the commission, just like they do

15· ·everybody else.· You know, we have a

16· ·rule-making sort of -- the Division of PMW has

17· ·our -- we'll continue to do rule-making as

18· ·needed.

19· · · · COMMISSIONER BROWN:· Thanks for your time

20· ·on this.

21· · · · EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR TROMBETTA:· Yes.

22· · · · COMMISSIONER DRAGO:· Can I ask one quick

23· ·question?

24· · · · Can you walk through the process as it is

25· ·today?

22
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·1· · · · EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR TROMBETTA:· Sure.

·2· · · · COMMISSIONER DRAGO:· And how it works, so

·3· ·I can kind of compare what it is today and...

·4· · · · EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR TROMBETTA:· Okay.· So

·5· ·again, I'm just using an example, going back to

·6· ·the permitting issue.

·7· · · · A change in ownership of more than

·8· ·10 percent needs to be approved by the

·9· ·Division of Pari-Mutuel Wagering.

10· · · · The recommendation, going back to the

11· ·first item, permitting, it will then be changed

12· ·to the commission.· Right now, the Division of

13· ·Pari-Mutuel Wagering will receive the

14· ·application.· The application process is laid

15· ·out in both statute and rule.· Those are

16· ·staying the same.· So the forms will be the

17· ·same.· You know, we're working on changing,

18· ·where it says "DBPR" to the Florida Gaming

19· ·Control Commission, but the process itself will

20· ·all stay the same.

21· · · · The Division of PMW currently does a

22· ·little bit of vetting on the new owners.· So

23· ·the purchaser -- we need to make sure that the

24· ·correct people have licenses, that if there's

25· ·any fees or any outstanding legal issues that
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·1· ·we kind of deal with them, but we -- the

·2· ·Division of PMW kind of goes through that whole

·3· ·process, and then we'll provide a -- in case of

·4· ·ownership transfers, there's two documents.

·5· ·There's a conditional final order to allow the

·6· ·companies to kind of conduct closing.· So it

·7· ·says, so long as you guys close the way you say

·8· ·you're going to, the permit ownership will

·9· ·change within this amount of time.

10· · · · So the conditional final order of approval

11· ·goes out.· That will be signed by the

12· ·commission, where right now it's signed by the

13· ·division.· Then the companies can close their

14· ·deal.· They submit the closing documentation

15· ·back to the division, and the division then

16· ·issues the actual final order.

17· · · · So that process will still involve those

18· ·two items, the conditional final order of

19· ·approval and the final order.· It's just that

20· ·instead of the division being the one that

21· ·signs it, it's going to be elevated to the

22· ·commission for signature.

23· · · · COMMISSIONER DRAGO:· So the process is

24· ·basically going to be the same?

25· · · · EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR TROMBETTA:· Yes, sir.
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·1· · · · COMMISSIONER DRAGO:· It's just going to be

·2· ·a different body, agency head that's going to

·3· ·approve and sign off on it.

·4· · · · EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR TROMBETTA:· Correct.

·5· · · · COMMISSIONER DRAGO:· Will the people in

·6· ·the industry feel a difference, do you think?

·7· · · · EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR TROMBETTA:· If I do my

·8· ·job correctly, they should.· The goal here is

·9· ·to make it as smooth as possible for both the

10· ·industry and operations.· I think a lot of

11· ·these items we have time to set on agendas.

12· ·They shouldn't be happening like this at the

13· ·last minute.· So we can plan for it.

14· · · · CHAIRMAN MACIVER:· One difference that I

15· ·was foreseeing was, as it happens right now,

16· ·let's say there is a licensing application.

17· ·You know, the line analyst and the attorney

18· ·have done their fact-finding.· They recommend

19· ·an approval.· It goes to their next level

20· ·supervisor.· Then it goes into a folder and

21· ·basically goes to a secretary, who is there in

22· ·the office every day and can make an

23· ·individualized decision, because they're one

24· ·person.

25· · · · We, as a collegial body, actually have to
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·1· ·meet.· And I saw not a significant delay, but

·2· ·some delay.· And any delay when someone is

·3· ·asking the government to let them do what they

·4· ·are otherwise entitled to do, I see as just a

·5· ·little bit too long.

·6· · · · So where those things -- again, I keep

·7· ·making the distinction between a ministerial

·8· ·versus a discretionary.· So for instance, if

·9· ·someone meets the immutable factual

10· ·qualifications for a license, and it's a shall

11· ·approve, then that's something I really want to

12· ·see an executive director be able to sign off

13· ·on, so you're not waiting a week or two weeks

14· ·or a month for us to have our regularly

15· ·scheduled business meeting.

16· · · · And certainly, there will be cases where

17· ·we can have a special meeting to address a

18· ·license here or a license there or a

19· ·disciplinary issue here or there.· But in the

20· ·general course of business, I really just want

21· ·to see how we could streamline those as much as

22· ·possible.

23· · · · And the general counsel, you had suggested

24· ·there was a case out of the 2nd Circuit that

25· ·kind of tied our hands on that.
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·1· · · · What would be necessary for us to get from

·2· ·where we are today to being able to do kind of

·3· ·what I'm discussing, where at least the things

·4· ·which are clear could be done in a more

·5· ·streamlined fashion?

·6· · · · MR. MARSHMAN:· Taking that case's holding

·7· ·into account and looking at other examples of

·8· ·other commissions and other executive

·9· ·directors, the solution, I believe, is an

10· ·expressed grant of statutory authority of

11· ·delegation powers from the Florida Gaming

12· ·Control Commission to the executive director

13· ·and his team.

14· · · · I believe that would be the strongest case

15· ·for Director Trombetta and his team to make

16· ·those decisions, streamline the process, and as

17· ·the chair said, give people the permission to

18· ·do the jobs they are trying to do.

19· · · · CHAIRMAN MACIVER:· And just to be clear

20· ·for the general public and what I am asking,

21· ·what I am suggesting, where a statute says "may

22· ·deny" or where the factual finding that has to

23· ·be done for a license is more of a judgment

24· ·call, I absolutely believe that is stuff that

25· ·does have to come before the commission because
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·1· ·it is our responsibility, and we have to be

·2· ·accountable for that.

·3· · · · I'm talking about the things where

·4· ·something should clearly be issued or something

·5· ·should clearly be denied.

·6· · · · Those are the types of things that I'd

·7· ·like to see the public be able to get a quicker

·8· ·answer on.· But if that's something that's

·9· ·going to take some legislative change, then

10· ·that's, I think, open for future discussion

11· ·amongst this commission, if we're ever talking

12· ·about any sort of a cleanup bill on our

13· ·statute.

14· · · · Thank you.

15· · · · MR. MARSHMAN:· Thank you.

16· · · · VICE-CHAIRMAN YAWORSKY:· Mr. Trombetta,

17· ·real quick.· I think the chair's points are

18· ·well taken.

19· · · · But I'm wondering -- when you said that

20· ·the experience should be the same roughly for

21· ·our regulated entities, I wonder if you could

22· ·just expound a little bit on some of the -- I

23· ·know we're early in this process, but some of

24· ·the ideas that have been expressed internally

25· ·among staff on some -- over time improvements
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·1· ·to technological infrastructure and

·2· ·streamlining processes from a truly

·3· ·administrative standpoint of how we're going to

·4· ·fulfill our statutory obligations.

·5· · · · EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR TROMBETTA:· Yes.· So

·6· ·one of the advantages that we're going to find

·7· ·in hiring personnel that we've hired already is

·8· ·that we're going to be able to improve a lot of

·9· ·the administrative, kind of, processes that

10· ·have existed.

11· · · · I'm sorry.· Maybe that's better.

12· · · · You know, right now -- and it's not a shot

13· ·at DBPR.· DBPR has been super helpful.· They've

14· ·helped the division succeed in my time there.

15· ·But the DBPR serves a wide range of professions

16· ·and businesses.

17· · · · Being able to focus just on the gaming

18· ·business, I think, is going to help our

19· ·administrative team respond to industry needs

20· ·in a much, kind of, quicker and more efficient

21· ·way.

22· · · · And just to circle back on, kind of, what

23· ·I said.· I think from the industry perspective,

24· ·from the applicants that are applying for the

25· ·license, their experience should be the same.
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·1· ·That's what I'm trying to achieve here.

·2· · · · So whether it's an individual applying

·3· ·through our website that needs a license, so he

·4· ·can raise his animal at Gulf Stream, or it's

·5· ·one of the Pari-Mutuel facilities applying for

·6· ·their operational cardroom licenses.· The

·7· ·experience should be the same from their end.

·8· · · · From the back end, it might -- it's going

·9· ·to change just in that there's different people

10· ·making that final decision, conducting the

11· ·final agency action, and because of the

12· ·commission, there's going to be the opportunity

13· ·for public input.

14· · · · So that too is something -- you know, the

15· ·Sunshine Law applies a little bit differently

16· ·to the commission than it did to PMW.· So there

17· ·are opportunities for little differences.· But

18· ·for the most part, from application to

19· ·issuance, from the experience of the applicant,

20· ·it should remain the same.

21· · · · Does that answer your question?· Sort of?

22· ·It looks like it doesn't.

23· · · · VICE-CHAIRMAN YAWORSKY:· No.· I think that

24· ·one of the things as I understand that we are

25· ·hoping to do over time would be to improve that
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·1· ·experience for the licensee or the regulated

·2· ·entity, to kind of cut down on any barriers and

·3· ·improve the licensing process wherever we can.

·4· ·I'm not suggesting that it's a process that's

·5· ·in disrepair or anything of that nature.

·6· · · · But I think that as we're going through

·7· ·this new process and as has been discussed,

·8· ·there may be ways that this fresh opportunity

·9· ·in the creation of this entity exists to

10· ·broaden that out to include a better experience

11· ·for the user as they're inputting information

12· ·or providing data or whatever it might be to

13· ·get a license or permit, that we can streamline

14· ·and make that a more efficient process.

15· · · · EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR TROMBETTA:· And to

16· ·hopefully build some confidence,

17· ·Mr. Vice-Chair, both Lisa and Suzie -- there's

18· ·so many things I want to improve.· How do we

19· ·get a better licensing system?· How do we

20· ·improve this process?· It's going to happen.

21· ·It might just take some time.

22· · · · VICE-CHAIRMAN YAWORSKY:· Take some time.

23· · · · COMMISSIONER D'AQUILA:· Yes.· Director,

24· ·might that include -- does your computing

25· ·operation calculate on a weekly basis the age
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·1· ·of application, when it came in, and then

·2· ·organized by those that are perhaps simpler

·3· ·than others, might that be a part of the weekly

·4· ·meeting to automate that efficiency, as the

·5· ·volume of applications and renewals and changes

·6· ·goes up over the next several months?

·7· · · · EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR TROMBETTA:· So the

·8· ·reference, I think, is more to the individual

·9· ·occupational licenses, the employees working at

10· ·the tracks.· So they -- our individual

11· ·occupational licenses right now have a

12· ·three-year life cycle.· So we've instituted

13· ·that change within the last maybe five years,

14· ·to make it a three-year life cycle, so we don't

15· ·have to get renewals as often.

16· · · · Licenses generally kind of follow a

17· ·pattern throughout the year.· There's times

18· ·when racing -- during the winter, racing

19· ·season, there's more people at the tracks

20· ·needing licenses.· So there's more of a demand

21· ·for licenses at that time.

22· · · · Around the end of the fiscal year, the

23· ·start of the new fiscal year, when licenses are

24· ·expiring and needing to be renewed, there's

25· ·another kind of uptick.
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·1· · · · So we do track data regarding number of

·2· ·licenses applied for, issued, denied, and we

·3· ·can get timeframes.· We do have that, and we

·4· ·can incorporate that into the process, yes.

·5· · · · COMMISSIONER D'AQUILA:· Thank you.

·6· · · · CHAIRMAN MACIVER:· Just a note for you,

·7· ·Mr. Trombetta.· As we move forward through

·8· ·these meetings, my general preference is to

·9· ·kind of conduct any individual item, like --

10· ·almost like a district court of appeal, where

11· ·we're going to let you start your presentation,

12· ·and I believe in a hot bench, we'll probably

13· ·end up taking you off your presentation as we

14· ·hit you with questions.

15· · · · But to kind of bring it back to where you

16· ·were, can you kind of give us the summary

17· ·overview of what the recommendation is for us

18· ·to adopt today?

19· · · · EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR TROMBETTA:· Sure.· So I

20· ·provided recommendations on each of the items

21· ·in the meeting materials.· They're all

22· ·essentially the same.

23· · · · The recommendation is that you essentially

24· ·accept or allow the division to conduct

25· ·fact-finding on these issues that will need
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·1· ·final agency action.

·2· · · · Permitting, operating licenses, individual

·3· ·occupational licenses, disciplinary issues, and

·4· ·I have a category called "special items."

·5· ·These are items that aren't typically listed in

·6· ·the controlling statutes.· So items like

·7· ·petitions for declaratory statements.· So these

·8· ·would be items outside sort of the gaming that

·9· ·are just tools available to people to use under

10· ·some other avenue of the law.· You know,

11· ·waivers under 120 that may come up every once

12· ·in a while, but they will need final agency

13· ·action from the commission.

14· · · · So the recommendation is that you

15· ·essentially authorize me, the executive

16· ·director, to do fact-finding on issues that

17· ·involve or will need final agency action to be

18· ·presented to the commission at a meeting for

19· ·signature.

20· · · · CHAIRMAN MACIVER:· And just to be clear,

21· ·again for the public, that fact-finding, when

22· ·it is brought before the commission, is still

23· ·subject to inquiry by the commission before

24· ·those facts are actually, quote, unquote, found

25· ·as part of the final agency action.
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·1· · · · So it's not like we blindly receive a

·2· ·package that says, this is what those facts

·3· ·are.· We still do probe into the fact-finding

·4· ·before we make a final decision.

·5· · · · With that, is there a motion to adopt the

·6· ·staff recommendation?

·7· · · · COMMISSIONER BROWN:· Mr. Chairman, I would

·8· ·move to adopt the recommendation on five items

·9· ·presented under item -- Section 4 in our

10· ·package of materials as presented to us.

11· · · · CHAIRMAN MACIVER:· Is there a second?

12· · · · COMMISSIONER DRAGO:· Second.

13· · · · CHAIRMAN MACIVER:· Do I hear any

14· ·objections?· Hearing none, show the motion

15· ·adopted.

16· · · · Commissioners, I would also at this time

17· ·like to also ask for a motion -- because we're

18· ·talking somewhat about delegation issues, I

19· ·would like for a motion to ratify any actions

20· ·that have been taken on behalf of or affecting

21· ·this commission that would otherwise be within

22· ·the purview of the commission, by way of

23· ·example any actions that have been taken by the

24· ·executive director subsequent to our last

25· ·meeting.
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·1· · · · Do I hear such a motion?

·2· · · · VICE-CHAIRMAN YAWORSKY:· I move.

·3· · · · CHAIRMAN MACIVER:· Do I hear a second?

·4· · · · COMMISSIONER D'AQUILA:· Second.

·5· · · · CHAIRMAN MACIVER:· And if I could, I'd

·6· ·like to ask for a roll-call vote on this.

·7· · · · So Vice-Chairman Yaworsky?

·8· · · · VICE-CHAIRMAN YAWORSKY:· Aye.

·9· · · · CHAIRMAN MACIVER:· Commissioner Brown?

10· · · · COMMISSIONER BROWN:· Aye.

11· · · · CHAIRMAN MACIVER:· Commissioner D'Aquila?

12· · · · COMMISSIONER D'AQUILA:· Aye.

13· · · · CHAIRMAN MACIVER:· Commissioner Drago?

14· · · · COMMISSIONER DRAGO:· Aye.

15· · · · CHAIRMAN MACIVER:· And the chair

16· ·votes aye.· So that motion is unonomously

17· ·(phonetic) adopted -- unanimously adopted.  I

18· ·told you I was going to forget how to use the

19· ·English language this morning.

20· · · · Moving on to Item Number 5, the process

21· ·for hiring our director of law enforcement.

22· · · · I think, as you all know, setting up

23· ·the -- I would say the other half of, but

24· ·certainly other segment of our agency that's

25· ·going to deal with criminal law and prosecution
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·1· ·is going to be one of our -- well, one, one of

·2· ·our most exciting functions; but two, one

·3· ·that's going to take a lot of heavy lifting.

·4· ·And the first step of that is, of course, our

·5· ·statutory duty to hire a director of gaming

·6· ·enforcement.

·7· · · · Director Trombetta, can you kind of walk

·8· ·us through what the proposal is for us to take

·9· ·steps in that direction?

10· · · · EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR TROMBETTA:· Yes.· Thank

11· ·you, Chairman.

12· · · · So the enacting legislation requires the

13· ·commission to select a director of our

14· ·law enforcement agency -- or division within

15· ·the commission.

16· · · · It's recommended that you kind of break

17· ·this up over a period of time here.· So I'm

18· ·going to ask -- and I recommend that you allow

19· ·me to get the advertisement posted by

20· ·June 15th, and that we can then kind of gather

21· ·an applicant pool that is then narrowed down.

22· · · · Ideally, I would essentially come up with

23· ·an order that I would recommend for interviews,

24· ·and I would have kind of a pool of the top part

25· ·of that order.· However, leave it open, so that
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·1· ·if you -- each of the commissioners will be

·2· ·provided with all of the applicants.· You'd get

·3· ·a copy of all of the resumes.· Then if you'd

·4· ·want anybody to be interviewed, you can add

·5· ·them to that pool.

·6· · · · Then essentially, we would then meet again

·7· ·to go through the interview pool and either

·8· ·finalize your interviews or do interviews that

·9· ·day, if you want to kind of save time.· I was

10· ·going to just leave that up to you-all, if you

11· ·want it that way.· Then you can either kind of

12· ·narrow the interview pool in that first

13· ·meeting, and then have a second one, where you

14· ·kind of do the interviews and select a

15· ·candidate.

16· · · · COMMISSIONER BROWN:· Just for

17· ·clarification.· So that first pool would be --

18· ·that would be a live meeting with the

19· ·interviewees and the commission body, or would

20· ·it be individually with each commissioner and

21· ·the interviewees?

22· · · · CHAIRMAN MACIVER:· So the way I had

23· ·envisioned it, and I had -- my recommendation

24· ·would be -- again, we will have access to all

25· ·of the applicants as commissioners, and we
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·1· ·would conduct a special meeting prior to our

·2· ·next regularly scheduled meeting, where we as a

·3· ·commission would be able to review those

·4· ·applicants, and that would not be live.· That

·5· ·would be a Zoom meeting for us in the Sunshine,

·6· ·but we wouldn't be inviting applicants to that

·7· ·meeting.

·8· · · · We would narrow down who we wanted to

·9· ·interview, and we would invite them to our next

10· ·regular scheduled meeting for public interviews

11· ·and a vote on the record.

12· · · · COMMISSIONER BROWN:· I think that makes

13· ·sense.

14· · · · COMMISSIONER DRAGO:· Director, I know that

15· ·you're putting together the job description and

16· ·so forth.· I think it's somewhat of a unique

17· ·position, in terms of law enforcement, and the

18· ·kind of people that we're going to seek out are

19· ·going to be kind of unique in certain ways.

20· · · · But I would like to give some input in

21· ·terms of what properties I think they should

22· ·possess, what attributes, their experience and

23· ·so forth.· Hopefully the commission will have

24· ·some suggestions as well, as to what this

25· ·person should look like in terms of experience.
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·1· · · · And just to throw some things out there, I

·2· ·think some of them are obvious.· Some of them

·3· ·may not be so obvious.· I think the person

·4· ·needs to have management experience and above,

·5· ·first line manager, mid-level manager

·6· ·experience, which will include experience in

·7· ·developing police policies, accreditation,

·8· ·those types of things that are going to be

·9· ·necessary for a law enforcement director to

10· ·face in any law enforcement job.· But here,

11· ·that person is going to be establishing a whole

12· ·new police department, basically, and they're

13· ·going to need all of these things from A to Z.

14· · · · In addition to that, that person is going

15· ·to need to have at least, in my opinion,

16· ·10 years of experience as a law enforcement

17· ·officer, with, say, seven years as a

18· ·supervisor, with criminal investigative

19· ·experience as well.· I don't know that we're

20· ·going to find necessarily gambling criminal

21· ·experience, but that would be a plus, of

22· ·course.

23· · · · I think these are kind of preferred

24· ·attributes I'd like to see in our law

25· ·enforcement candidates that are going to be
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·1· ·necessary for this position.· It's going to

·2· ·take an experienced person to deal with all the

·3· ·nuances of starting a law enforcement branch, a

·4· ·law enforcement division for the state.

·5· · · · So I would think those things are going to

·6· ·be necessary, at the very least.· So if we

·7· ·could consider that, if the commission could

·8· ·consider that, those and whatever else anybody

·9· ·would want to add to this position.

10· · · · CHAIRMAN MACIVER:· I like to second what

11· ·Commissioner said.· I think at least 10 years

12· ·of progressive law enforcement supervisory

13· ·experience is going to be necessary.

14· · · · I think you'll probably be able to model

15· ·the job description somewhat after possibly an

16· ·FDLE special agent in charge.

17· · · · Additionally, Commission Members, I'd like

18· ·to ask that included in the job application,

19· ·because we want the division to have the most

20· ·flexibility going forward in completing

21· ·whatever the ultimate role from the enforcement

22· ·side is going to be, we want them to have the

23· ·experience and knowledge to be able to run the

24· ·full gamut of what might be done.

25· · · · I think that it's important that the job
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·1· ·description include a strong preference for

·2· ·complex criminal investigations, RICO

·3· ·investigations, interagency cooperation, and

·4· ·experience with criminal and civil forfeiture.

·5· · · · COMMISSIONER DRAGO:· I agree 100 percent,

·6· ·yes.

·7· · · · CHAIRMAN MACIVER:· Is there a motion to

·8· ·authorize the executive director to put out the

·9· ·advertisement, based upon our direction, and to

10· ·begin the application collection process?

11· · · · VICE-CHAIRMAN YAWORSKY:· Could I just ask

12· ·a clarification question?

13· · · · To clarify the motion, a lot of very good

14· ·ideas have been put forward on -- or directives

15· ·have been put forward on what the

16· ·qualifications are.

17· · · · I just want to -- I've heard preferred and

18· ·necessary at different points, and I don't know

19· ·if it would be helpful to delineate out what

20· ·those -- which are preferred and which are

21· ·necessary, or if they're all necessary to be in

22· ·the ad or how that should look, so that we have

23· ·good direction to the executive director on

24· ·what we're looking for.

25· · · · CHAIRMAN MACIVER:· So I think the
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·1· ·necessary is going to be at least 10 years of

·2· ·progressive law enforcement experience.· But

·3· ·again, I think those prerequisite requirements

·4· ·that are necessary requirements can probably be

·5· ·somewhat modeled off of using an FDLE special

·6· ·agent in charge application to kind of model

·7· ·after that.

·8· · · · The things I'm talking about having a

·9· ·strong preference for, the more we make a

10· ·qualification mandatory, the more we tie our

11· ·own hands.· We may have someone who has

12· ·nine and a half, rather than ten years, of

13· ·experience in an area that we think isn't

14· ·qualified, but is an absolute rock star in

15· ·every other qualified area.

16· · · · So my general preference would be to not

17· ·tie our hands, but to allow us the discretion

18· ·to meet whatever the statutory obligations are

19· ·for this position, and to meet those baseline

20· ·qualifications as a threshold.· But otherwise,

21· ·to give ourselves the maximum amount of

22· ·flexibility to decide, as a body, what totality

23· ·of qualifications meets our needs.

24· · · · COMMISSIONER BROWN:· I have a question for

25· ·Mr. Trombetta.
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·1· · · · Is there any necessary qualification that

·2· ·you feel would be appropriate in the job

·3· ·advertisement that you would recommend to us?

·4· · · · EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR TROMBETTA:· So I think

·5· ·there's -- in terms of the requirements -- and

·6· ·I'll give you my thoughts too.· I think two are

·7· ·delineated in the statute.· I forget what they

·8· ·are off the top of my head, and it has to do

·9· ·with being sworn and being able to be

10· ·certified.

11· · · · So I think I would model whatever is in

12· ·the statute.· Whatever is required in the

13· ·statute, I'd include in the advertisement as a

14· ·requirement.

15· · · · And typically in job advertisements, to

16· ·address some of the concerns here, there's

17· ·usually a sentence, like the minimum

18· ·requirements, like similar experience can be,

19· ·you know, accepted to meet an otherwise lacking

20· ·area.· So we can include a sentence like that,

21· ·if you prefer.

22· · · · But to your actual question, I think --

23· ·you know, again, I'm relying on the knowledge

24· ·of the commissioners.· I think they're more

25· ·experienced in, you know, acting law
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·1· ·enforcement.

·2· · · · So I think everything that Commissioner

·3· ·Drago and Commissioner MacIver, I think

·4· ·requirements regarding experience, the type of

·5· ·experience, that being RICO or advanced

·6· ·investigations.

·7· · · · In my own research, talking with people in

·8· ·other states that has this type of role, they

·9· ·kind of echo those desires.· You want someone

10· ·that's able to not just one -- a lot of what

11· ·they're going to be looking at is a little bit

12· ·complex by nature, or could be.· And two, you

13· ·want somebody that has -- that's going to be

14· ·able to go up the chain and have some

15· ·experience doing white collar crime.

16· · · · So I think I can incorporate the items

17· ·identified today and get a candidate pool that

18· ·reflects what you guys want.

19· · · · COMMISSIONER DRAGO:· So the job

20· ·announcement could give those minimum

21· ·requirements, and then preferred --

22· · · · EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR TROMBETTA:· Yes, sir.

23· · · · COMMISSIONER DRAGO:· -- attributes or --

24· ·not requirements, but attributes that you could

25· ·add to that, so that applicants know what we're

45



Page 44
·1· ·looking for.· Even though it might eliminate

·2· ·them, they know what we're looking for.

·3· · · · EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR TROMBETTA:· Correct.

·4· ·Yes, sir.

·5· · · · VICE-CHAIRMAN YAWORSKY:· So with that

·6· ·clarification, I would motion for -- the

·7· ·original motion to essentially do what

·8· ·Mr. Drago did, which was to create the minimum

·9· ·qualifications that have been discussed as

10· ·required, and then have preferential notices

11· ·issued in the ad, so that there's some context

12· ·of what we're looking for.· So then we have

13· ·both flexibility and some framework in place to

14· ·make sure that we have a great pool.

15· · · · CHAIRMAN MACIVER:· Is there a second?

16· · · · COMMISSIONER DRAGO:· Second.

17· · · · CHAIRMAN MACIVER:· Do I hear any

18· ·objection?· Hearing none, show the motion

19· ·adopted.

20· · · · Now, this may actually be the most

21· ·difficult part for all of us, Agenda Item

22· ·Number 6, discussion of our regular meeting

23· ·schedule.

24· · · · In discussions with the director, my

25· ·recommendation is that we settle on -- and of
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·1· ·course it can fluctuate in advance of any

·2· ·scheduled meeting, but that we schedule a

·3· ·regular monthly business meeting.· My

·4· ·recommendation was going to be the first

·5· ·Thursday or first Wednesday, or whatever is

·6· ·most convenient for the commissioners, of every

·7· ·month.· I know that July is going to become a

·8· ·little bit complicated because of some

·9· ·schedules, and we may have to call an audible

10· ·on that.· But ultimately to have a regular

11· ·general business meeting that will happen once

12· ·a month that would then be interspersed with

13· ·any special meetings that we have to have.· If

14· ·there's a case that has significant facts that

15· ·we have to discuss that we have to do a

16· ·separate meeting from our regular business

17· ·meeting, we might call a Zoom meeting, or -- or

18· ·even if we have to have just a special meeting

19· ·on any of those cases, we can notice those as

20· ·appropriate, but intersperse them throughout

21· ·our regular monthly.

22· · · · For the general business of the

23· ·commission, I think we can get things done on a

24· ·monthly meeting schedule.· But the devil is in

25· ·the details, and trying to work around

47



Page 46
·1· ·everybody's schedule, I think, is where it

·2· ·started getting complicated.

·3· · · · So I am open to recommendations of the

·4· ·commissioners and the director, as to how you

·5· ·all want to see that work out.

·6· · · · If nobody else talks, it automatically

·7· ·falls to you.

·8· · · · EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR TROMBETTA:· Let me try

·9· ·to break the ice here.

10· · · · And this kind of goes in step with the

11· ·procedures.

12· · · · Having a regularly scheduled monthly

13· ·meeting is going to help operationally get

14· ·stuff prepared.· We'll know ahead of time,

15· ·okay, we have a meeting on this date.· We can

16· ·get our licenses and all of the materials

17· ·together for you on that date.

18· · · · So I'd recommend that you guys kind of

19· ·agree to the first Wednesday or Thursday of

20· ·each month, that type thing, with the, kind of,

21· ·exception that there may be some special

22· ·meetings mixed in between as needed.· But if

23· ·you can kind of work on that, I think that

24· ·would be great.

25· · · · There were calendars, I believe -- yes,
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·1· ·there's calendars included in this packet, so

·2· ·that we can look at it.· I know that July is a

·3· ·little bit tough because the first week in July

·4· ·is July 4th, but I'd still recommend that we

·5· ·try to have a meeting in early July at some

·6· ·point, whether it's part of the regularly

·7· ·scheduled business meeting or not.

·8· · · · So I'd recommend that you guys do

·9· ·two things at this moment:· Come up with a plan

10· ·for a regularly scheduled meeting, and then

11· ·address the July issue of when you're going to

12· ·meet in early July.

13· · · · COMMISSIONER DRAGO:· I agree with

14· ·recurring date, day of the month, or however we

15· ·want to do it, so that we can plan out far

16· ·enough so that we can eliminate as many

17· ·conflicts for all of us as we possibly can.

18· · · · Picking a day, like the first Thursday of

19· ·the month, is the way to go, in my opinion, and

20· ·the first Thursday of the month works for me.

21· · · · EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR TROMBETTA:· Okay.

22· · · · COMMISSIONER DRAGO:· So I agree with the

23· ·concept, and I also agree with the date that's

24· ·been recommended, but I know that we're going

25· ·to have to talk about that, that it may not
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·1· ·work for everybody.

·2· · · · CHAIRMAN MACIVER:· As what would, I think,

·3· ·colloquially be known as "penciling in," is

·4· ·everybody comfortable if we go ahead and set as

·5· ·a baseline the first Thursday of every month

·6· ·for our regularly scheduled meeting, with an

·7· ·exception for July, which is going to take some

·8· ·further discussion?

·9· · · · COMMISSIONER BROWN:· Yes.

10· · · · VICE-CHAIRMAN YAWORSKY:· Yes.

11· · · · COMMISSIONER BROWN:· What about the time?

12· ·10:00 or 9:30?

13· · · · CHAIRMAN MACIVER:· I am open to the

14· ·pleasure of the commission.· I think we can --

15· ·I want to be accommodating to those of you who

16· ·are traveling into town, who may be eager to

17· ·get business started, so you're not here all

18· ·day.· But at the same time, folks don't want to

19· ·be here first thing in the morning, and I can

20· ·understand that too.

21· · · · So I'd be open to any suggestions and the

22· ·will of the body.

23· · · · COMMISSIONER BROWN:· So Thursday night is

24· ·football night for our family.· So I'm a big

25· ·fan of getting in here earlier than the
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·1· ·10:00 a.m.· So I'm game for 9:00, 9:30.

·2· · · · COMMISSIONER DRAGO:· That's fine with me.

·3· · · · VICE-CHAIRMAN YAWORSKY:· 9:30 seems like a

·4· ·good way to split the difference.

·5· · · · COMMISSIONER D'AQUILA:· Yes.

·6· · · · CHAIRMAN MACIVER:· Director Trombetta, I

·7· ·think you're hearing first Thursday of every

·8· ·month at 9:30.· We'll have to work on logistics

·9· ·of where we're going to regularly meet, whether

10· ·that's here in the cabinet room or how we'll

11· ·approach that moving forward, but we have a

12· ·timeframe.

13· · · · Now working towards July, I'm going to

14· ·hand the reins back over to you.· Keep in mind

15· ·the two things that we're going to have to do

16· ·for July are, one, a special meeting, which I

17· ·think we can conduct by Zoom to discuss

18· ·applications for the director of enforcement,

19· ·and then what would be our regular business

20· ·meeting on the agenda would be the public

21· ·interviews and a vote.

22· · · · EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR TROMBETTA:· So hearing

23· ·that, I'd recommend that you maybe do the Zoom

24· ·meeting first in early July.· So I know the

25· ·July 4th week, there may be conflicts, but
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·1· ·if -- I think that it would be best to do a

·2· ·Zoom meeting in either that first or second

·3· ·week of July, and then follow, like a week

·4· ·later, with the regularly scheduled business

·5· ·meeting.

·6· · · · CHAIRMAN MACIVER:· Our big consideration

·7· ·there is length of advertisement for the

·8· ·director of enforcement position.

·9· · · · That would leave us -- if the

10· ·advertisement goes out by the 15th, that would

11· ·leave us -- is that three weeks, someone who

12· ·can count without using their fingers?

13· · · · Okay.· Is everybody in agreement that

14· ·would be enough time to accept the applications

15· ·and for us to be able to review them?· Okay.

16· · · · I think that sounds good.· If you wanted

17· ·to set up an appropriate Zoom meeting for that

18· ·first week for us to be able to discuss

19· ·applications.

20· · · · And then what's a recommendation on our

21· ·general business meeting for July?· I think

22· ·this is where we start running into conflicts.

23· · · · EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR TROMBETTA:· I'd

24· ·recommend you do it shortly thereafter.  I

25· ·mean, I think a week is enough time, that if
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·1· ·you guys narrowed down the pool, let's just say

·2· ·on the 6th of July, then we could kind of

·3· ·arrange, you know, people.· We could say, all

·4· ·right, everybody show up for the interviews on

·5· ·the 13th, a week later.· But I realize, again,

·6· ·it's over the holiday here, so...

·7· · · · CHAIRMAN MACIVER:· The one thing that

·8· ·gives me a little bit of pause about doing it

·9· ·too quickly is, we're going to be accepting

10· ·applicants potentially nationally from some

11· ·pretty busy, pretty powerful, high-level

12· ·law enforcement officials.

13· · · · I would presume -- and it might be

14· ·difficult to address their schedules on short

15· ·notice.

16· · · · Now, if they want the job, they're going

17· ·to have to show up for the interview.· But

18· ·giving them a little bit more flextime to be

19· ·able to adjust their schedule might be wise on

20· ·our part, to make sure we're not closing the

21· ·door on some potentially good applicants.

22· · · · COMMISSIONER BROWN:· Mr. Chairman, I would

23· ·completely agree.· I think we also need some

24· ·time to digest the applications and spend a

25· ·little bit more vetting time, and I would --
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·1· ·maybe even two weeks or three weeks after that,

·2· ·maybe the second to last week on a Thursday or

·3· ·second to last week on -- if that works for --

·4· ·it's open for me.· I'm just throwing that out

·5· ·there, on the 21st or the 28th.

·6· · · · COMMISSIONER DRAGO:· Just so I'm clear on

·7· ·where we are right now.· So we're talking about

·8· ·reviewing the candidates on the 1st in a Zoom

·9· ·meeting?

10· · · · EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR TROMBETTA:· On

11· ·potentially the --

12· · · · COMMISSIONER DRAGO:· The first week?

13· · · · EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR TROMBETTA:· First week,

14· ·probably the 6th.

15· · · · COMMISSIONER DRAGO:· Okay.· So the 6th

16· ·would be a Zoom meeting to review the

17· ·candidates, and then have a regular meeting

18· ·where the candidates would come in.

19· · · · So yeah, I would say we're going to need

20· ·at least two weeks after that.· Give them

21· ·two weeks to come in from wherever they may be

22· ·coming from.

23· · · · CHAIRMAN MACIVER:· Do we have conflicts

24· ·for either the 21st or the 28th?

25· · · · COMMISSIONER D'AQUILA:· Could we do the
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·1· ·20th?

·2· · · · CHAIRMAN MACIVER:· I can.

·3· · · · VICE-CHAIRMAN YAWORSKY:· Is that enough

·4· ·time on the 20th, given the considerations that

·5· ·we just spoke about, or the 27th?

·6· · · · COMMISSIONER BROWN:· The 27th works.

·7· · · · COMMISSIONER D'AQUILA:· The 27th can work.

·8· · · · CHAIRMAN MACIVER:· The 27th works for me.

·9· · · · COMMISSIONER DRAGO:· Yes.

10· · · · CHAIRMAN MACIVER:· I think we're all in

11· ·agreement.· Director Trombetta, if you can get

12· ·all of those schedules out and arrange for

13· ·everybody.

14· · · · At some point in time, Commissioners, I

15· ·expect that we will have a regular assistant

16· ·process.· But as we're moving, I think I'm

17· ·asking the director to do a lot of things that

18· ·might otherwise not be directly within his

19· ·duties in the future.

20· · · · EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR TROMBETTA:· It's part

21· ·of this job right now.· It's not a problem.· We

22· ·will get it done.

23· · · · CHAIRMAN MACIVER:· Item Number 7, other

24· ·matters.· I had envisioned this being a short

25· ·question of, does anybody else have anything
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·1· ·good for the order?

·2· · · · COMMISSIONER BROWN:· I do just have a

·3· ·quick question.· If there's anything that needs

·4· ·to be done before July 1st on the part of any

·5· ·type of action by the commission for direction

·6· ·before that deadline.

·7· · · · EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR TROMBETTA:· I guess --

·8· ·I mean, it's appropriate, I guess, but it's

·9· ·sort of like an executive director type of

10· ·update.

11· · · · So ahead of July 1st, the Division of PMW

12· ·is doing our best to kind of do two things:

13· ·We're working with DBPR to kind of get

14· ·everything that's going to be needed for that

15· ·July 1st separation, to try to get in place, so

16· ·that operations can continue, and again, it's

17· ·been going very well on both.· The DBPR has

18· ·been very helpful.· They're going to continue

19· ·to support us as needed, but we're also trying

20· ·to pull away, so that we can kind of stand up

21· ·on our own as best we can on July 1st.

22· · · · The second side of it is on the PMW side.

23· ·PMW internally is doing a lot.· So we're

24· ·changing our letterhead, getting our email

25· ·signatures ready, changing some signage.· We
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·1· ·are trying to do everything we can to make --

·2· ·on July 1st, make it clear that we are part of

·3· ·the gaming -- the Division of PMW is part of

·4· ·the gaming commission, and separate from DBPR.

·5· ·So that's happening sort of behind the scenes.

·6· · · · It's a lot of work, but I think it overall

·7· ·is going to be a pretty smooth transition for,

·8· ·again, operations for the administrative side.

·9· ·That's all going to happen pretty well.

10· · · · We are working with the architecture firm

11· ·that we've engaged to come up with a design for

12· ·the building.· We have another meeting

13· ·tomorrow, I do, to try to work forward on those

14· ·plans.· The new staff is coming along to help.

15· ·Having them along is very helpful.

16· · · · We are working on finalizing a lease for

17· ·that space as well.· So we have a space in

18· ·mind.· We're working with DMS to make sure the

19· ·lease captures exactly what we're trying to

20· ·achieve.· Then on the secondhand, we're working

21· ·with the architect to make sure to kind of get

22· ·us in a good spot, so that we can get

23· ·construction going as needed to modify the

24· ·space.

25· · · · COMMISSIONER BROWN:· Thank you.· I'm super
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·1· ·excited about your hires, Ross, Suzie, Lisa.

·2· ·They've got great ideas.· Especially from a

·3· ·technology and HR standpoint, I know that

·4· ·they're going to do a lot of great things for

·5· ·this agency and assure the existing PMW staff

·6· ·that it's only -- the trajectory is only going

·7· ·upward and onward.· So congratulations on

·8· ·hiring such great candidates.

·9· · · · VICE-CHAIRMAN YAWORSKY:· And I just wanted

10· ·to echo some words that have already been said

11· ·here.· I want to thank Lou and the rest of your

12· ·team, both existing PMW staff and new staff

13· ·that have come onboard.· I know that this an

14· ·awkward growing pains type of moment we're all

15· ·in, but everyone has been exceptional.· I see

16· ·Dixie in the back.· Everyone has been

17· ·exceptional in the work that you're doing to

18· ·keep this on track and to keep us on pace to

19· ·what's going on, and I appreciate it.· Thank

20· ·you.

21· · · · COMMISSIONER DRAGO:· Thank you.

22· · · · CHAIRMAN MACIVER:· Likewise, let me thank

23· ·all of the staff and, importantly, all of the

24· ·commissioners, thank you.· This first meeting

25· ·of mine ran very smoothly, and I appreciate the
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·1· ·shoulders that I am able to stand on,

·2· ·especially Commissioner Brown, and putting this

·3· ·commission in the good shape that it's in for

·4· ·me to be able to walk into this role very

·5· ·easily.· Thank you.

·6· · · · With that, if there's nothing else, we are

·7· ·adjourned.

·8· · · · · · (Proceedings adjourned)

·9· · · · CHAIRMAN MACIVER:· We are unadjourned.

10· · · · I will take a moment for public comment,

11· ·yes.

12· · · · MR. DUNBAR:· Sorry, Chair.· My name is

13· ·Mark Dunbar, for the record.· I think I know

14· ·most of you.

15· · · · The reason why I wanted to come here is,

16· ·one, to compliment you and praise you,

17· ·obviously, for standing this commission up.

18· · · · There's a newspaper article out of

19· ·Jacksonville this morning.· It's particularly

20· ·germane, and I wanted to make sure it was on

21· ·the record and brought it to your attention.

22· · · · You commissioners now preside over what is

23· ·either the second or third largest gambling

24· ·industry in the country.· The reason why I say

25· ·second or third depends on whether or not you
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·1· ·are capturing the illegal and gray market

·2· ·gambling that's going on in the state.· To

·3· ·capture that, we go from third to second.

·4· · · · There's an article in Jacksonville about a

·5· ·commissioner over there that's considering an

·6· ·ordinance to protect gray market slot machine

·7· ·parlors over there, and to essentially create

·8· ·an oligopoly of 20 of them operating.

·9· · · · The reason why I wanted to come and appear

10· ·before you right now is, I think it's important

11· ·that you communicate your existence.· I don't

12· ·know that every chief of police, every sheriff,

13· ·and every local elected official even knows

14· ·that this body exists.· But more importantly, I

15· ·don't think they know what the authority is

16· ·that's been given to you by the legislature.

17· ·And your plenary authority certainly reaches to

18· ·what is being discussed over in Jacksonville

19· ·right now.

20· · · · I think it's important, as you move

21· ·forward, and particularly at any great ideas

22· ·from Commissioner Drago as it relates to the

23· ·director of law enforcement, that you take that

24· ·part of this industry extremely seriously,

25· ·because we have known organized crime.· We've
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·1· ·had shootings.· We've had actual murders

·2· ·involved in the gray market industry in

·3· ·Florida.· And one of the things that's tied

·4· ·local government's hands, local law

·5· ·enforcement's hands, and the Division of

·6· ·Pari-Mutuel Wagering, and the state agency's

·7· ·hands is an entity that didn't have the plenary

·8· ·authority.

·9· · · · I've been working for 18 years to try and

10· ·help the legislature see the wisdom in standing

11· ·up a body like yours.· I thought it was kind of

12· ·coincidental and, I guess, somewhat ironic to

13· ·the gray market industry, that that would

14· ·actually appear today on the first day the

15· ·commission has been impaneled.

16· · · · So I only wanted to jump up here and say

17· ·please communicate your existence to local

18· ·elected officials and local law enforcement,

19· ·because I think that it's going to be important

20· ·as they move forward in looking at these kind

21· ·of operations to know that that really is your

22· ·authority.

23· · · · So apologize for delaying the chairman and

24· ·the meeting.

25· · · · CHAIRMAN MACIVER:· No apology necessary,
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·1· ·and your comments are very well taken,

·2· ·Mr. Dunbar.· Thank you.

·3· · · · With that, any other comments from the

·4· ·commission?

·5· · · · COMMISSIONER DRAGO:· I just want to follow

·6· ·up on what Mr. Dunbar said.· I think it's a

·7· ·great point that that is going to be a big

·8· ·challenge for us and for the law enforcement

·9· ·director to get out in the state as quickly as

10· ·possible, and let these other law enforcement

11· ·agencies know that they've got this expertise

12· ·now.· They've also got the support.

13· · · · Many law enforcement agencies are not

14· ·familiar enough with the gray market machines

15· ·and so forth to really understand it to make

16· ·the cases they need to make, but this is going

17· ·to be a great resource for everybody in this

18· ·state, all law enforcement across the state.

19· · · · So that's a great point.· It's

20· ·something -- we have a real challenge ahead of

21· ·ourselves in trying to achieve.

22· · · · COMMISSIONER BROWN:· If I may, too, just

23· ·to follow up on Commissioner Drago.

24· · · · I think those were great pointed points to

25· ·point out to all of us here.· It's not just
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·1· ·partnerships with local governments.· It's also

·2· ·external affairs of the existing agency

·3· ·throughout the state of Florida through

·4· ·campaign, through advertising, through

·5· ·partnerships.· Not just on the public side, but

·6· ·also on the private side, that we really need

·7· ·to think broad of how to get brand new agency

·8· ·awareness out there to the public who are going

·9· ·to be also really critical to help us thrive

10· ·and identify the gray market activities, but

11· ·also to the local governments as well.

12· · · · CHAIRMAN MACIVER:· All right.· With that,

13· ·unless there is any pressing need,

14· ·Commissioners, we are adjourned.

15· · ·(Proceedings adjourned at 10:32 a.m.)
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MEMORANDUM 

 

To:   The Florida Gaming Control Commission  

From:   Division of Pari-Mutuel Wagering 

Re:   Operator’s Request to add Card Tables 

Date:   July 20, 2022 

 

 

Executive Summary 

A cardroom operator is seeking permission to add additional card tables to its poker room. The 

Commission should approve this request. 

 

Background 

TBD Entertainment, LLC d/b/a TGT Poker & Racebook and/or Lucky’s Card Room (“TBD”) 

possesses a greyhound permit. TBD has been issued two licenses for the 2022-2023 Fiscal Year: 

1) a pari-mutuel operating license; and 2) a cardroom license.1 TBD is currently licensed to operate 

14 card tables and is requesting permission to add 3 more to its cardroom. TBD has paid the $3,000 

license fee associated with the additional tables.2 

 

Analysis  

Aside from the $1,000-per-card-table license fee, there is no other applicable restriction3 to the 

number of card tables that TBD can add to its cardroom. Since TBD has paid the additional $3,000 

license fee, TBD should be authorized to add additional card tables to its cardroom. 

 

Recommendation: The Florida Gaming Control Commission should approve TBD Entertainment, 

LLC d/b/a TGT Poker & Racebook and/or Lucky’s Card Room’s request to add additional card 

tables to its cardroom. 

 

 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

                                                
1 See generally § 849.086, Fla. Stat. 
2 The annual cardroom license fee costs $1,000 for each table in the cardroom. § 849.086(5)(e), Fla. Stat.  
3 There is no indication that TBD is seeking to change the number of card tables for the play of poker games in a 

designated player method. See §§ 849.086(7)(h)2. & 4., Fla. Stat. (restricting the number of tables for the play of poker 

games in a designated player manner). 
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*Your Job Title Chief of Police

*Currently Employed No

*Start Date 08/01/2021

*End Date 01/31/2022

*Hours Per Week 40

Employer’s Address Cicero, IL

Supervisor’s Name Dr. Stan Fields

Supervisor’s Phone
Number

*Duties and
Responsibilities

Led the day-to-day operations of the campus police
department, including the development of evolving
processes to assess campus safety needs and the
effectiveness of police department programs and services.
Developed and disseminated college's annual safety and
security report, and maintained full compliance with the
Clery Act, Title IX, and all other requirements regarding
safety, security, and emergency preparedness. * Led 30+
department employees and manage the budget.

*Reason For Leaving I am seeking relocation to Fl.

Your name, if different
during employment

*Name of Employer Illinois Department of Transportation

*Your Job Title Investigator, Bureau of Investigations and Compliance

*Currently Employed No

*Start Date 05/01/2021

*End Date 08/01/2021

*Hours Per Week 40

Employer’s Address Schaumburg, IL

Supervisor’s Name Robert L. Williams

Supervisor’s Phone
Number

*Duties and
Responsibilities

Performed accurate, confidential, and timely investigations,
conducted interviews, analyzed allegations, and
collaborated with various law enforcement agencies.
Prepared comprehensive investigative reports to represent
the facts of an investigation clearly and accurately.
Assisted in training of workplace ethics. * Ensured that
evidence gathered was properly obtained, accurate and
reliable, properly cataloged, and maintained in confidential
files while adhering to Federal, State, and departmental
policies.

*Reason For Leaving I was hired by Morton College.

Your name, if different
during employment

*Name of Employer Cicero Police Department

*Your Job Title Deputy Superintendent of Patrol Division

*Currently Employed No

*Start Date 01/01/2019

*End Date 05/01/2021
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*Currently Employed No

*Start Date 07/01/2011

*End Date 09/30/2013

*Hours Per Week 40

Employer’s Address
Supervisor’s Name
Supervisor’s Phone

Number
*Duties and

Responsibilities
Responsible for the administration and coordination of all
State Law Enforcement and the National Guard for law
enforcement services during declared emergencies. Serve
as the Emergency Coordinating Officer for FDLE and the
lead for the Emergency Support Function 16 (Law
Enforcement) at the State's Emergency Operations
Center. Coordinate with FDLE Regional Operations
Centers and local (government) emergency operation
centers to provide information and intelligence related to
event(s) and state resource deployments. Maintain liaison
with all state law enforcement agencies, and the Florida
Sheriff's Task Force and Florida Police Chief's Association.
Additional responsibilities include maintaining inventory of
state and local law enforcement resources available for
emergency response; provide support and technical
assistance to state and local law enforcement for
emergency planning and mutual aid. Currently provide
management of FDLE's aviation resources.

*Reason For Leaving Recruited to DFS

Your name, if different
during employment

*Name of Employer Florida Sheriffs Association

*Your Job Title Assistant Executive Director

*Currently Employed No

*Start Date 04/01/2010

*End Date 07/01/2011

*Hours Per Week 40

Employer’s Address
Supervisor’s Name
Supervisor’s Phone

Number
*Duties and

Responsibilities
Assistant Executive Director 04/2010 to
07/2011Responsible for law enforcement and legislative
operations, staff operations (Law Enforcement & Training,
Jail Services), training and protection of assets and
facilities. Performed process improvement,facility
management, strategic planning and oversight all
lawenforcement and legislative matters. Duties also
include emergencymanagement, reviewing and managing
projects, creating policy andprocedures, responding to
media inquiries, and coordinator of theFlorida Sheriff's
Statewide Task Force and serving as a liaison toFlorida's
67 Sheriffs.

*Reason For Leaving Recruited to FDLE based on my KSA and desire to return
to Law Enforcement
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Your name, if different
during employment

*Name of Employer Orange County Sheriff's Office

*Your Job Title Captain

*Currently Employed No

*Start Date 01/01/1984

*End Date 12/31/2010

*Hours Per Week 40

Employer’s Address
Supervisor’s Name
Supervisor’s Phone

Number
*Duties and

Responsibilities
See various assignments below as well as detailed
resume attached

*Reason For Leaving Retired to take on a new challenge

Your name, if different
during employment

*Name of Employer Orange County Sheriff's Office

*Your Job Title Captain - Aviation Section Commander

*Currently Employed No

*Start Date 07/01/2009

*End Date 04/30/2010

*Hours Per Week 40

Employer’s Address
Supervisor’s Name
Supervisor’s Phone

Number
*Duties and

Responsibilities
Responsible for the daily operation of the Aviation Section,
Flight Operations Unit which encompasses (11) Pilots, (14)
Tactical Flight Observers, (4) Aircraft Mechanics and
Support Staff. Responsibilities include the oversight of a
24/7 operation, training and maintenance of five
helicopters, one fixed wing airplane. This position requires
providing strategic planning and leadership for thirty-six
sworn law enforcement members and a three million dollar
budget.

*Reason For Leaving Reassigned based on ability and agency need

Your name, if different
during employment

*Name of Employer Orange County Sheriff's Office

*Your Job Title Captain - Support Services Division

*Currently Employed No

*Start Date 03/01/2009

*End Date 07/01/2009

*Hours Per Week 40

Employer’s Address
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Supervisor’s Name
Supervisor’s Phone

Number
*Duties and

Responsibilities
Responsible for the daily operation of the Youth Services
Section which includes the School Resource Officer Unit,
Truancy Squad, Truancy Center, DARE, and GREAT
programs. Additional responsibilities include GREAT
National Policy Board Member and the Regional
Administrator for ten states in the Southeast. This position
required providing leadership for eighty-four sworn law
enforcement members and additional support personnel
and a budget of approximately nine millions dollars.

*Reason For Leaving Reassigned based on ability and agency need

Your name, if different
during employment

*Name of Employer Orange County Sheriff's Office

*Your Job Title Captain - Homeland Security, Director

*Currently Employed No

*Start Date 10/01/2003

*End Date 03/01/2009

*Hours Per Week 40

Employer’s Address
Supervisor’s Name
Supervisor’s Phone

Number
*Duties and

Responsibilities
Responsible for the daily operations of Crime Prevention,
Critical Infrastructure Protection and the Emergency
Management Unit. The position fostered close working
relationships with multi jurisdictions, multidisciplines and
professionals from city, state and federal levels sharing
information and ideas on terrorism, emergency
management, and critical infrastructure. Additional
responsibilities included oversight for millions of dollars in
DHS grant funding for the State of Florida, and
commander of the agencies Critical Incident Management
Team that responds to critical incidents and disasters.
Accomplishments included the construction on a one
million dollar mobile command vehicle, the agencies
Emergency Operations Center. Oversight and input of the
Agency Critical Incident Management Guide, COOP, and a
Unified Command School.

*Reason For Leaving Reassigned based on ability and agency need

Your name, if different
during employment

*Name of Employer Orange County Sheriff's Office

*Your Job Title Lieutenant - Watch Commander

*Currently Employed No

*Start Date 03/01/2002

*End Date 10/01/2003

*Hours Per Week 40

Employer’s Address
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Supervisor’s Name
Supervisor’s Phone

Number
*Duties and

Responsibilities
Responsible for the daily oversight of approximately sixty-
five uniformpatrol officers. The assignment included
providing leadership, mentoring,supervision, and the
handling of payroll, citizen complaints, andperformance
evaluations.

*Reason For Leaving Promoted to Captain

Your name, if different
during employment

*Name of Employer Information Management Services

*Your Job Title Lieutenant

*Currently Employed No

*Start Date 08/01/2001

*End Date 03/01/2002

*Hours Per Week 40

Employer’s Address
Supervisor’s Name
Supervisor’s Phone

Number
*Duties and

Responsibilities
Responsible for the oversight, development, and the
implementation of anagency wide Mobile Data Program.
The assignment included thecoordination and supervision
of the project management team and thetraining of over
1,000 users of the "in vehicle" mobile dispatch system.

*Reason For Leaving Reassigned based on ability and agency need

Your name, if different
during employment

*Name of Employer Orange County Sheriff's Office

*Your Job Title Lieutenant - Watch Commander, Sector I

*Currently Employed No

*Start Date 08/01/2000

*End Date 08/01/2001

*Hours Per Week 40

Employer’s Address
Supervisor’s Name
Supervisor’s Phone

Number
*Duties and

Responsibilities
Responsible for the daily oversight of approximately sixty-
five uniformpatrol officers. The assignment included
providing leadership, mentoring,supervision, and the
handling of payroll, citizen complaints, and performance
evaluations.

*Reason For Leaving Reassigned based on ability and agency need

Your name, if different
during employment
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*Name of Employer Uniform Patrol Sector I

*Your Job Title Sergeant

*Currently Employed No

*Start Date 11/01/1995

*End Date 08/01/2000

*Hours Per Week 40

Employer’s Address
Supervisor’s Name
Supervisor’s Phone

Number
*Duties and

Responsibilities
UNSPECIFIED

*Reason For Leaving Promoted to Lieutenant

Your name, if different
during employment

*Name of Employer CID & Tourist Policing (WDW)

*Your Job Title Sergeant

*Currently Employed No

*Start Date 05/01/1992

*End Date 11/01/1995

*Hours Per Week 40

Employer’s Address
Supervisor’s Name
Supervisor’s Phone

Number
*Duties and

Responsibilities
Supervised a squad of eight detectives conducting
investigations of general property crimes and fraud as well
as uniformed deputies conducting high visibility patrol in
the tourist areas of Central Florida (Disney, etc.)

*Reason For Leaving Reassigned based on ability and agency need

Your name, if different
during employment

*Name of Employer Uniform Patrol Sector I & III

*Your Job Title Sergeant

*Currently Employed No

*Start Date 08/01/1990

*End Date 05/01/1992

*Hours Per Week 40

Employer’s Address
Supervisor’s Name
Supervisor’s Phone

Number
*Duties and

Responsibilities
UNSPECIFIED

*Reason For Leaving Reassigned based on ability and agency need

Your name, if different
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during employment

*Name of Employer Orange County Sheriff's Office

*Your Job Title Corporal

*Currently Employed No

*Start Date 01/01/1989

*End Date 08/01/1990

*Hours Per Week 40

Employer’s Address
Supervisor’s Name
Supervisor’s Phone

Number
*Duties and

Responsibilities
Staff Inspection and Internal Audits

*Reason For Leaving Promoted to Sergeant

Your name, if different
during employment

*Name of Employer Criminal Investigations Division

*Your Job Title Detective

*Currently Employed No

*Start Date 07/01/1987

*End Date 01/01/1989

*Hours Per Week 40

Employer’s Address
Supervisor’s Name
Supervisor’s Phone

Number
*Duties and

Responsibilities
Investigative all general property crimes to include
presentations to the State Attorney for prosecution, court
room testimony

*Reason For Leaving Reassigned based on ability and agency need

Your name, if different
during employment

*Name of Employer Patrol/Tactical Unit

*Your Job Title Deputy First Class

*Currently Employed No

*Start Date 07/01/1986

*End Date 01/31/1989

*Hours Per Week 40

Employer’s Address
Supervisor’s Name
Supervisor’s Phone

Number
*Duties and

Responsibilities
Worked plain clothes tactical operations and well as
undercover

*Reason For Leaving Reassigned based on ability and agency need
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Responsibilities batteries. Performed chemical instrumental analysis to
identify and isolate lead and aluminum mixtures. Provided
instructions of what solutions and elements to add to the
extracted compound to produce lead and aluminum alloy
block meeting customer specifications.

*Reason For Leaving To become a police officer

Your name, if different
during employment

N/A

*Name of Employer New York State Police

*Your Job Title Major

*Currently Employed Yes

*Start Date 10/28/1996

*End Date MM/DD/YYYY

*Hours Per Week 40

Employer’s Address New York, NY

Supervisor’s Name Robert Gregory

Supervisor’s Phone
Number

*Duties and
Responsibilities

(2022-Present) Serve as Regional Inspector for all Long
Island and New York City regarding Professional
Standards Bureau matters. Oversee the personnel
complaints, administrative investigations, random drug
testing, audits, compliance and recommendations for
improvement. Covers seven (7) metropolitan counties with
over 500 employees and a population of approximately
11.3 million citizens. In charge of all critical incidents that
occur in this region involving death and/or serious injury as
well as use of force issues. (2021-2022) Serve as Major in
Professional Standards Bureau. Division Discovery Officer,
manages all issues dealing with records, body camera,
evidence, personnel complaint findings and cooperation
with the Governor's Office and all 62 District Attorney's
Offices. Identifies and suggests corrective action for
agency vulnerabilities through audits and drug testing
program. (2020-2021) Served as the Troop Commander
for Troop K, leading, supervising and managing at least
500 personnel that provided law enforcement service to
over 1.4 million citizens spanning 4 counties. This covers
all personnel operationally and administratively.
Maintained positive working relationships with local, state
and federal partners, politicians, stakeholders and
community leaders. Reviewed hundreds of administrative
investigative reports dealing with misconduct and at fault
accidents involving sworn and non-sworn personnel.
Adjudicated and punished membership for at fault and
founded conduct. Reviewed and mediated labor disputes
with management decisions and grievances. Served on
board of criminal analysis center for multiple counties.
Served as a member of several associations including
local chiefs and politicians. Created unit to address rising
crime in underserviced areas. Integrated intelligence
activities into field operations, plans and programs.
Handled administrative requirements smoothly and
efficiently, including maintaining records and submitting
administrative reports. Conducted and oversaw
interrogations, briefings and debriefings. Directed
collection, organization and application of field intelligence
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and crime data to enhance officer safety and operational
success. Prepared and delivered investigative reports and
briefings. Managed all aspects of administrative and
personnel needs of field operations. Oversaw teams
planning, implementing and realigning field and
administrative operational strategies. Monitored all Troop
inventory to ensure stock levels and databases were
updated. Resolved conflicts and negotiated mutually
beneficial agreements between parties. Actively listened to
stakeholders' requests, confirming full understanding
before addressing concerns. Completed internal audits to
ensure compliance with relevant policies and procedures.
Performed duties in accordance with all applicable
standards, policies and regulatory guidelines to promote
safety. Identified issues, analyzed information and
provided solutions to problems. Directed command and
control operations during the pandemic and civil unrest.
Resolved problems, improved operations and provided
exceptional service. Maintained energy and enthusiasm in
fast-paced environment. Created spreadsheets using
Microsoft Excel for daily, weekly, monthly and yearly
reporting. Drove operational improvements which resulted
in savings and improved customer service and
productivity. Used critical thinking to break down problems,
evaluate solutions and make decisions. Prepared, planned
for and coordinated execution of mass gathering events.
Managed and motivated Troopers to optimize routine
procedures and effectively complete special projects such
as community stabilization with disciplined and
knowledgeable approaches.

*Reason For Leaving Retirement

Your name, if different
during employment

N/A

*Name of Employer Village Of Monticello

*Your Job Title Police Officer

*Currently Employed No

*Start Date 03/01/1996

*End Date 10/25/1996

*Hours Per Week 40

Employer’s Address Monticello, New York

Supervisor’s Name Douglas Solomon

Supervisor’s Phone
Number

*Duties and
Responsibilities

Served as a Police Officer in a village of about 7,000
residents of very diverse and poor population. Operated as
an undercover officer for theft, prostitution and narcotics.
Fluctuated between foot and roving patrol to deter, detect,
investigate and mitigate criminal activity in poor and
diverse communities and housing projects. Patrolled
assigned areas to prevent and detect roadway crimes.
Apprehended suspects, read Miranda Rights and
transported offenders to jail. Enforced traffic laws and
ordinances through visual observation and radar speed
detection. Talked regularly with citizens to establish
rapport and become familiar presence in area. Secured
crime scenes, gathered evidence and questioned
witnesses. Coordinated swift and tactical responses to
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*Name of Employer Florida Lottery

*Your Job Title Director of Claims Processing

*Currently Employed Yes

*Start Date 08/01/2015

*End Date MM/DD/YYYY

*Hours Per Week 40

Employer’s Address 250 Marriott Drive, Tallahassee, FL 32301

Supervisor’s Name Becky Ajhar

Supervisor’s Phone
Number

*Duties and
Responsibilities

Florida Department of the Lottery Director of a major unit
of the Florida Lottery, a $9 Billion a year business, that is
responsible for paying 59,000 claims valued at over $467
million in prize money, during FY 2021/2022. The former
deputy director of the Lottery's law enforcement unit, which
provided both active law enforcement activities and
response to calls for service by lottery retailers, customers,
internal employees and law enforcement agencies across
the state. Provided oversight of active investigative
functions, including crimes involving organized criminal
gaming enterprises. Was actively involved in obtaining
accreditation for Lottery Security unit by managing
elements of Lottery's accreditation process. To include,
supervising the Division of Security's Accreditation
Manager and providing oversight of division standards,
procedures and timeline measurements. Creating and
building relationships with partner state agencies, state
and local law enforcement agencies, states attorneys,
business partners and Lottery stakeholders. Manage the
Florida Lottery's Forensic Laboratory Manager and the
Forensic Examination Laboratory. Ensuring all procedures
were followed, equipment was maintained and all industry
standards were met. Actively involved in policy creation
and revision for the Lottery law enforcement unit.
Represented the Lottery at the State Emergency
Operations Center (SEOC) meetings and exercises
relating to disaster preparedness, response, recovery and
mitigation.

*Reason For Leaving Vocational Growth

Your name, if different
during employment

*Name of Employer Quest Engineering

*Your Job Title Accident Reconstructionist

*Currently Employed No

*Start Date 03/01/2014

*End Date 08/01/2015

*Hours Per Week 40

Employer’s Address 1937 Raymond Diehl Road

Supervisor’s Name Kim Cowart

Supervisor’s Phone
Number

*Duties and
Responsibilities

Investigated and documented crash scenes, vehicles and
injuries to determine cause, contributing factors and
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*Name of Employer MCKESSON CORPORATION

*Your Job Title REGULATORY AFFAIRS MANAGER

*Currently Employed Yes

*Start Date 04/01/2020

*End Date MM/DD/YYYY

*Hours Per Week 40

Employer’s Address work from home

Supervisor’s Name Bill Mahoney

Supervisor’s Phone
Number

*Duties and
Responsibilities

DUTIES: ENSURES THAT THE COMPANY IS
COMPLYING WITH ALL REGULATIONS AND LAWS
PERTAINING TO CONTROLLED SUBSTANCES. WORK
DIRECTLY WITH PHARMACIES ON REGULATORY
ASPECTS THAT WOULD AFFECT THEIR BUSINESS.
PROVIDE INTERNAL AND EXTERNAL REVIEW
REPORTS; REVIEW PURCHASING AND DISPENSING
DATA; REVIEW DEA AND STATE MEDICAL LICENSES;
MAKE DECISIONS ON THRESHOLD INCREASES AND
POTENTIAL ONBOARDING OF PHARMACIES.

*Reason For Leaving still employed

Your name, if different
during employment

*Name of Employer PENNSYLVANIA ATTORNEY GENERAL

*Your Job Title ASSISTANT DEPUTY CHIEF

*Currently Employed No

*Start Date 01/01/1998

*End Date 12/31/2020

*Hours Per Week 40

Employer’s Address
Supervisor’s Name
Supervisor’s Phone

Number
*Duties and

Responsibilities
Duties: As deputy chief serves as the operational manager
of the Bureau of Narcotics Investigation and Drug Control.
Participates in command decisions of the department and
reports directly to the chief . Responsible for the direction
and leadership of the department. Also coordinates the
training and promotion of department personnel as well as
issue disciplinary actions on employees. Directly provides
guidance and direction to the Strategic Response Teams,
Gun Task Force and the State Drug Diversion Unit.

*Reason For Leaving retirement

Your name, if different
during employment

*Name of Employer PENNSYLVANIA ATTORNEY GENERAL

*Your Job Title REGIONAL DIRECTOR

*Currently Employed No

*Start Date 01/01/2015
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*End Date 04/30/2020

*Hours Per Week 40

Employer’s Address
Supervisor’s Name
Supervisor’s Phone

Number
*Duties and

Responsibilities
Duties: Manage 14 Narcotics Agents and over 200 Local
Task Force Officers. Ensure operational duties are
correctly abided Agents and Task Force Officers. Conduct
quarterly audits of the regional office evidence room and
monthly audit of regional bank account. Perform bi-yearly
safety inspection of the regional office and maintain all
safety equipment in accordance with operating standards.
Conduct yearly evaluations of all regional employees and
issue disciplinary actions on problematic employees.
Approve all reports done by Agents and Task Force
Officers and ensure yearly training remains compliant.

*Reason For Leaving promotion within the state

Your name, if different
during employment

*Name of Employer NA-III

*Your Job Title SUPERVISORY NARCOTICS AGENT

*Currently Employed No

*Start Date 12/31/2008

*End Date 08/10/2015

*Hours Per Week 40

Employer’s Address
Supervisor’s Name
Supervisor’s Phone

Number
*Duties and

Responsibilities
Duties: Responsible for the day to day performance of
agents within the Region VI Butler Office. Job duties
include guiding agents toward reaching their goals, seeing
that they are productive workers, and also resolving any
problems as they arise.

*Reason For Leaving promotion within the state

Your name, if different
during employment

*Name of Employer WESTERN SUPERVISORY CLANDESTINE LAB TEAM

*Your Job Title NARCOTICS AGENT (NA-II)

*Currently Employed No

*Start Date 01/01/1998

*End Date 10/05/2015

*Hours Per Week 40

Employer’s Address
Supervisor’s Name
Supervisor’s Phone

Number
*Duties and Duties: To conduct comprehensive investigations into
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Responsibilities illegal activities of drug traffickers throughout the
Commonwealth. This is accomplished through the use of
statewide investigating grand juries; electronic
surveillance; diversion and other compliance
investigations; utilizing available technical services;
developing criminal intelligence information; financial
investigative operations; interdiction operations; fishnet
investigative operations; reverse undercover operations;
and other innovative methods of identifying and combating
illicit drug activity.

*Reason For Leaving promotion within the state

Your name, if different
during employment

*Name of Employer DEA PITTSBURGH TASK

*Your Job Title FORCE OFFICER

*Currently Employed No

*Start Date 01/01/2006

*End Date 12/31/2008

*Hours Per Week 40

Employer’s Address
Supervisor’s Name
Supervisor’s Phone

Number
*Duties and

Responsibilities
Complex drug trafficking organizations

*Reason For Leaving promotion within the state

Your name, if different
during employment

*Name of Employer WAYNESBURG COLLEGE

*Your Job Title INSTRUCTOR - MASTER PROGRAM

*Currently Employed No

*Start Date 01/01/2016

*End Date 06/17/2022

*Hours Per Week 4

Employer’s Address
Supervisor’s Name
Supervisor’s Phone

Number
*Duties and

Responsibilities
Duties: Teaching master level narcotics course in drug
investigations.

*Reason For Leaving to pursue investigative work

Your name, if different
during employment

*Name of Employer COMMUNITY COLLEGE OF BEAVER COUNTY

*Your Job Title INSTRUCTOR

*Currently Employed No

*Start Date 01/01/2007
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*End Date 01/01/2016

*Hours Per Week 3

Employer’s Address
Supervisor’s Name
Supervisor’s Phone

Number
*Duties and

Responsibilities
Duties: Teaching courses in the Criminal Justice Field to
college students. Classes: Drugs In Society and Interview
and Interrogation.

*Reason For Leaving to begin teaching at Waynesburg University

Your name, if different
during employment

*Name of Employer COMMUNITY COLLEGE OF BEAVER COUNTY

*Your Job Title PROBATION OFFICER

*Currently Employed No

*Start Date 01/01/1995

*End Date 12/31/1998

*Hours Per Week 40

Employer’s Address
Supervisor’s Name
Supervisor’s Phone

Number
*Duties and

Responsibilities
Duties: Supervised juveniles to ensure that they were
abiding by their court ordered stipulations. Conducted
visits in the home setting, schools and placement facilities.

*Reason For Leaving to begin employment with the Pa Office of Attorney
General

Your name, if different
during employment

*Name of Employer JOSEPH HORNE'S AND COMPANY

*Your Job Title STORE DETECTIVE

*Currently Employed No

*Start Date 01/01/1992

*End Date 12/31/1993

*Hours Per Week 40

Employer’s Address
Supervisor’s Name
Supervisor’s Phone

Number
*Duties and

Responsibilities
Duties: Responsible for shrinkage reduction through
detection of customer and associate theft. Performed
operational audits and associate training. Verified store's
compliance to company systems, procedures, and
guidelines related to store security. Ensured store safety
requirements for associates and customers.

*Reason For Leaving to pursue a Master's Degree

Your name, if different
during employment
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Your name, if different
during employment

*Name of Employer CURATIVE

*Your Job Title Operations Manager

*Currently Employed No

*Start Date 01/01/2021

*End Date 07/31/2021

*Hours Per Week 50

Employer’s Address
Supervisor’s Name
Supervisor’s Phone

Number
*Duties and

Responsibilities
* Coordinated medical staff for the COVID-19 vaccination
sites * Coordinated the vaccine sites with the Florida
Department of Emergency Management and the Florida
Department of Health * Reviewed and approved staff
expense reports * Provided statistical information related to
the completion of vaccinations at the various sites

*Reason For Leaving Contract Ended

Your name, if different
during employment

*Name of Employer FLORIDA DEPARTMENT OF LAW ENFORCEMENT
(FDLE)

*Your Job Title Deputy Director, Criminal Justice Professionalism Division

*Currently Employed No

*Start Date 01/01/1999

*End Date 12/31/2021

*Hours Per Week 40

Employer’s Address TALLAHASSEE, FL

Supervisor’s Name
Supervisor’s Phone

Number
*Duties and

Responsibilities
* Responsible for overseeing the Florida Criminal Justice
Executive Institute four training areas: The Chief Executive
Seminar; the Senior Leadership Program; the Executive
Leadership Seminar; and the Florida Leadership Academy
* Supervised: agencywide sworn training; Special Agent
Academy; and Alcohol Testing Program * Coordinated the
Florida Criminal Justice Executive Institute Policy Board
meetings * Coordinated related activities with the Office of
the Governor and the Medical Examiners Commission *
Served as the Accreditation Manager for Commission on
Accreditation for Law Enforcement Agencies (CALEA) and
Commission for Florida Accreditation (CFA)

*Reason For Leaving Retired

Your name, if different
during employment

*Name of Employer Capitol Police
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*Your Job Title Deputy Director (Lieutenant Colonel)

*Currently Employed No

*Start Date 01/01/2015

*End Date 12/31/2017

*Hours Per Week 40

Employer’s Address
Supervisor’s Name
Supervisor’s Phone

Number
*Duties and

Responsibilities
* Supervised Law Enforcement operations at the Florida
Capitol & state facilities * Supervised protection for the
Governor, Senators, House of Representatives, and their
employees * Coordinated the activities of the Special
Operations Team as the Team Commander * Supervised
training for civilian and sworn personnel * Supervised the
response of law enforcement to large events held at the
Capitol * Supervised protection of dignitaries visiting the
Capitol

*Reason For Leaving Promotion to Deputy Director HQ

Your name, if different
during employment

*Name of Employer FDLE

*Your Job Title Special Agent Supervisor, Statewide Investigative &
Forensic Science Section

*Currently Employed No

*Start Date 01/01/2014

*End Date 01/01/2015

*Hours Per Week 40

Employer’s Address
Supervisor’s Name
Supervisor’s Phone

Number
*Duties and

Responsibilities
* Acted as the statewide coordinator for all sworn training *
Coordinated statewide Emergency Management State
Law Enforcement (ESF16) mutual aide * Supervised and
coordinated the Special Agent Academy * Supervised the
statewide methamphetamine clandestine lab storage
program * Supervised the statewide aviation unit *
Coordinated statewide C.A.R.T. (Child Abduction
Response Team) Program

*Reason For Leaving Promotion

Your name, if different
during employment

*Name of Employer FLORIDA PUBLIC SAFETY INSTITUTE, TALLAHASSEE
COMMUNITY COLLEGE

*Your Job Title Nighttime, Basic Recruit Law Enforcement Academy
Coordinator

*Currently Employed No

*Start Date 01/01/2012

*End Date 12/31/2015
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*Hours Per Week 20

Employer’s Address QUINCY, FL

Supervisor’s Name
Supervisor’s Phone

Number
*Duties and

Responsibilities
* Worked as a member of a team overseeing the nighttime
basic recruit law enforcement academy training *
Coordinated instructors' schedules associated with the law
enforcement academy training * Instructed recruits in
areas of high liability, focusing on defensive tactics,
firearms, and all other training required by the Criminal
Justice Standards and Training Commission (CJSTC)

*Reason For Leaving Conflict of interest after promotion

Your name, if different
during employment

*Name of Employer Organized Crime Squad, Tallahassee Regional Operations
Center (TROC)

*Your Job Title Special Agent Supervisor

*Currently Employed No

*Start Date 01/01/2012

*End Date 12/31/2014

*Hours Per Week 40

Employer’s Address
Supervisor’s Name
Supervisor’s Phone

Number
*Duties and

Responsibilities
Operations Center (TROC) * Oversaw multijurisdictional
federal and state narcotics and organized crime
investigations * Coordinated regional/statewide pill-mill
investigations as directed by the Governor's Office *
Coordinated the training for members of TROC in areas of
high liability, focusing on defensive tactics, firearms and all
other training required by the CJSTC * Conducted search
warrants and high-risk surveillance operations as a
member of the FDLE Special Operations Team

*Reason For Leaving N/A

Your name, if different
during employment

*Name of Employer Squads, TROC

*Your Job Title Special Agent Supervisor, Economic Crime/Public Integrity
and Criminal Analyst

*Currently Employed No

*Start Date 01/01/2010

*End Date 01/01/2012

*Hours Per Week 40

Employer’s Address
Supervisor’s Name
Supervisor’s Phone

Number
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*Duties and
Responsibilities

Squads, TROC * Oversaw multijurisdictional and federal
economic crime investigations pertaining to health care
fraud, investment schemes, identity theft, credit card fraud,
mortgage fraud and organized retail crime * Oversaw
public integrity/corruption cases involving public officials
and state employees * Supervised the Criminal Analyst
Squad * Coordinated the training for members of TROC in
areas of high liability, focusing on defensive tactics,
firearms and all other training required by the CJSTC *
Conducted search warrants and high-risk surveillance
operations as a member of the FDLE Special Operations
Team

*Reason For Leaving N/A

Your name, if different
during employment

*Name of Employer Region II Domestic Security Task Force Coordinator;
TROC

*Your Job Title Special Agent Supervisor

*Currently Employed No

*Start Date 01/01/2008

*End Date 01/01/2010

*Hours Per Week 40

Employer’s Address
Supervisor’s Name
Supervisor’s Phone

Number
*Duties and

Responsibilities
Domestic Security Squad, TROC * Coordinated multi-
jurisdictional state and federal domestic security
investigations Investigated threats against the security of
the State of Florida and the United States * Collected and
validated intelligence information regarding domestic
security issues * Assisted and coordinated the training for
members of Region II Domestic Security Task Force *
Attended Homeland Security funding meetings to secure
funding for Region II * Assisted with high liability training of
personnel, focusing on defensive tactics & firearms *
Served as an Executive Board Member for the North
Florida Fusion Exchange Center * Conducted search
warrants and high-risk surveillance operations as a
member of the FDLE Special Operations Team

*Reason For Leaving N/A

Your name, if different
during employment

*Name of Employer Violent Crimes/ Public Integrity Squad; TROC

*Your Job Title Special Agent Supervisor

*Currently Employed No

*Start Date 01/01/2007

*End Date 01/01/2008

*Hours Per Week 40

Employer’s Address
Supervisor’s Name
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Supervisor’s Phone
Number

*Duties and
Responsibilities

* Investigated homicides and/or violent crimes *
Investigated police officer involved shootings and in-
custody deaths * Investigated public integrity cases
involving law enforcement personnel * Served as the
Region II Child Abduction Response Team Coordinator *
Responded to child abduction cases as a member of a
Child Abduction Response Team * Assisted with high
liability training of personnel, focusing on defensive tactics
& firearms

*Reason For Leaving N/A

Your name, if different
during employment

*Name of Employer TROC

*Your Job Title Special Agent, Domestic Security Squad

*Currently Employed No

*Start Date 01/01/2006

*End Date 01/01/2007

*Hours Per Week 40

Employer’s Address
Supervisor’s Name
Supervisor’s Phone

Number
*Duties and

Responsibilities
* Coordinated multi-jurisdictional domestic security
investigations as a member of the Region II Domestic
Security Task Force * Investigated threats against the
security of the State of Florida and the United States *
Collected and validating intelligence information regarding
domestic security issues * Assisted and coordinating the
training for members of Region II Domestic Security Task
Force * Attended Homeland Security funding meetings to
secure funding for Region II * Assisted with the training of
personnel in high liability areas focusing on defensive
tactics * Conducted search warrants and high-risk
surveillance operations as a member of the FDLE Special
Operations Team

*Reason For Leaving N/A

Your name, if different
during employment

*Name of Employer Violent Crimes/ Public Integrity Squad; TROC

*Your Job Title Special Agent

*Currently Employed No

*Start Date 01/01/2006

*End Date 12/31/2007

*Hours Per Week 40

Employer’s Address
Supervisor’s Name
Supervisor’s Phone

Number
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*Duties and
Responsibilities

* Investigated homicides and/or violent crimes *
Investigated police officer involved shootings and in-
custody deaths * Investigated public integrity cases
involving law enforcement personnel * Responded to child
abduction cases as a member of a Child Abduction
Response Team * Responded to methamphetamine labs
to secure evidence and dismantle the clandestine labs *
Assisted with the training of personnel in high liability areas
focusing on defensive tactics * Provided
methamphetamine awareness training to state and local
law enforcement personnel

*Reason For Leaving N/A

Your name, if different
during employment

*Name of Employer TROC

*Your Job Title Special Agent, Narcotics Squad

*Currently Employed No

*Start Date 01/01/2002

*End Date 01/01/2006

*Hours Per Week 40

Employer’s Address
Supervisor’s Name
Supervisor’s Phone

Number
*Duties and

Responsibilities
* Coordinated multi-jurisdictional narcotics investigations *
Responded to methamphetamine labs to secure evidence
and dismantle the clandestine labs * Assisted with the
training of personnel in high liability areas focusing on
defensive tactics * Provided methamphetamine awareness
training to state and local law enforcement personnel *
Conducted search warrants and high-risk surveillance
operations as a member of the FDLE Statewide Special
Operations Team * Assisted other law enforcement
agencies with civil disturbances and natural disasters

*Reason For Leaving N/A

Your name, if different
during employment

*Name of Employer FDLE

*Your Job Title Special Agent, Protective Operations Section

*Currently Employed No

*Start Date 01/01/1999

*End Date 01/01/2002

*Hours Per Week 40

Employer’s Address
Supervisor’s Name
Supervisor’s Phone

Number
*Duties and

Responsibilities
* Provided protection for the Governor of Florida, his
family, and dignitaries * Supervised five Special Agents as
a team leader * Scheduled agents' shifts, travel, and duties
* Coordinated domestic and international travel events for
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the Governor and staff * Conducted domestic and
international travel advance security assessments as lead
agent * Investigated threats made toward Governor, family,
and staff * Evaluated and suggested security
enhancements of the Florida Capitol building and the
Governor's Mansion * Conducted search warrants and
high-risk surveillance operations as a member of the FDLE
Statewide Special Operations Team * Responded to all
civil disturbances and natural disasters to assist local
agencies * Coordinated training of all protection operations
personnel

*Reason For Leaving N/A

Your name, if different
during employment

*Name of Employer PINELLAS COUNTY SHERIFF'S OFFICE

*Your Job Title Detective, Burglary and Pawn Unit

*Currently Employed No

*Start Date 01/01/1989

*End Date 01/01/1999

*Hours Per Week 40

Employer’s Address LARGO, FL

Supervisor’s Name
Supervisor’s Phone

Number
*Duties and

Responsibilities
* Coordinated multi-jurisdictional criminal investigations*
Investigated all felony property offenses* Interviewed
victims and suspects for relevant information* Conducted
surveillance of criminal activity* Attended and coordinated
neighborhood watch meetings

*Reason For Leaving Took position with FDLE

Your name, if different
during employment

*Name of Employer Youth Services Section

*Your Job Title Deputy Sheriff/School Resource Officer

*Currently Employed No

*Start Date 01/01/1995

*End Date 12/31/1998

*Hours Per Week 40

Employer’s Address
Supervisor’s Name
Supervisor’s Phone

Number
*Duties and

Responsibilities
* Enforced state laws and school policies * Investigated
criminal offenses involving students or that occurred on
school property * Taught criminal justice topics *
Counseled parents and students * Coached junior varsity
football players

*Reason For Leaving N/A

Your name, if different
during employment
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*Name of Employer Street Crimes Unit

*Your Job Title Deputy Sheriff

*Currently Employed No

*Start Date 01/01/1993

*End Date 01/01/1995

*Hours Per Week 40

Employer’s Address
Supervisor’s Name
Supervisor’s Phone

Number
*Duties and

Responsibilities
* Conducted plain clothes investigations * Conducted
surveillance of criminal activity * Assisted staff members of
patrol operations in high crime areas

*Reason For Leaving N/A

Your name, if different
during employment

*Name of Employer Pinellas County Sheriffs Ofc.

*Your Job Title Deputy Sheriff, Marine Unit

*Currently Employed No

*Start Date 01/01/1990

*End Date 12/31/1992

*Hours Per Week 40

Employer’s Address
Supervisor’s Name
Supervisor’s Phone

Number
*Duties and

Responsibilities
* Patrolled local and state waterways * Enforced boating
safety laws * Conducted accident and marine fishery
investigations * Served on U.S. Customs Blue Lightning
Task Force for drug interdiction

*Reason For Leaving N/A

Your name, if different
during employment

*Name of Employer Patrol Operations Bureau

*Your Job Title Deputy Sheriff

*Currently Employed No

*Start Date 01/01/1989

*End Date 01/01/1990

*Hours Per Week 40

Employer’s Address
Supervisor’s Name
Supervisor’s Phone

Number
*Duties and

Responsibilities
* Patrolled and responded to calls for service * Enforced
local and traffic safety laws * Served as a member of the
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(transcripts may be
required)

Credit Hours – Quarter
Credit Hours – Semester

*Name of School FDLE Special Agent Academy

*Location Tallahassee

*Start Date 03/01/2022

End Date MM/DD/YYYY

Course of Study Special Agent Academy

*Degree Earned
(transcripts may be

required)

Not Applicable

Credit Hours – Quarter
Credit Hours – Semester

*Name of School CALEA Law Enforcement Accreditation Training

*Location Tallahassee

*Start Date 01/01/2015

End Date MM/DD/YYYY

Course of Study Accreditation Manager CALEA and CFA; Certified
Accreditation Accessor CFA

*Degree Earned
(transcripts may be

required)

Not Applicable

Credit Hours – Quarter
Credit Hours – Semester

*Name of School Homeland Security Maritime

*Location West Palm Beach

*Start Date 06/01/2014

End Date MM/DD/YYYY

Course of Study Federal Law Enforcement Training Center Marine Law
Enforcement Marine Officer Training

*Degree Earned
(transcripts may be

required)

Not Applicable

Credit Hours – Quarter
Credit Hours – Semester

*Name of School Tactical Vessel Operator

*Location Panama City

*Start Date 05/01/2014

End Date MM/DD/YYYY

Course of Study Tactical Vessel Operator

*Degree Earned
(transcripts may be

required)

Not Applicable
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